UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

GRANT F. SMITH, PRO SE

- ase: 1:15-cv-00224
Plaintiff, (;issigned To - Chutkan, Tanya S.

i ' 15
Assign. Date 2]13129
Desgription: FOIA/Privacy Act

CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE AGENCY

Defendant.

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

1. This is an action under the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552, to order
the production of Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) files about the unlawful diversion of
U.S. government-owned weapons-grade uranium from the Nuclear Materials and
Equipment Corporation (NUMEC) into the clandestine Israeli nuclear weapons program
which the Defendant Central Intelligence Agency has improperly withheld from the Plaintiff.

2. This court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B).

3. The Plaintiff has a legal right under FOIA to obtain the information he seeks, and

there is no legal basis for the denial by Defendant CIA of said right.



4. Plaintiff, Grant F. Smith, is an author and public interest researcher and founder of
the Institute for Research: Middle Eastern Policy, Inc. IRmep) and is the requester of the
records which Defendant is now withholding. Smith's FOIA, mandatory declassification
review (MDR) and Interagency Security Classification Appeals Panel (ISCAP) generated
releases, research and analysis have been published in The Washington Report on Middle East
Affairs, The Wall Street Journal, Antiwar.com, The Washington Examiner, Mint Press News, Lobel g,
the Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists,” Military.com, The Jewish Daily Forward, Business Insider, and
Conrthouse News Service. They have been carried on broadcast outlets such as C-SPAN, public
and commercial U.S. radio stations as well as foreign outlets like the BBC and RT. Plaintiff
originally requested this information for use in vital public interest research into how nuclear
weapons related know-how, material and technology have been unlawfully diverted into
Israeli entities conducting clandestine nuclear weapons-related research and development
while undermining the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty and the Symington and Glenn
Amendments to the 1961 US Foreign Assistance Act. He is the author of the 2012 book
Divert! NUMEC, Zalman Shapiro and the Diversion of US. Weapons-Grade Uranium into the Israeli
Nuclear Weapons Program.

5. According to a U.S. Department of Energy year 2000 report, the Nuclear Materials
and Equipment Corporation (NUMEC), though defunct, retains the highest pre-1986

“materials unaccounted for” losses of any government-contractor nuclear processing facility

1 "Did Israel steal bomb-grade uranium from the United States?" Victor Gilinsky and Roger J. Mattson, Bulletin of
the Atomic Scientists, April 17, 2014 http://thebulletin.org/did-israel-steal-bomb-grade-uranium-united-
states7056
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in the United States.? According to a declassified GAO report, Apollo, Pennsylvania based
NUMEC processed scarce government-supplied, unique, highly enriched uranium into fuel
for the U.S. Navy, receiving over 22 tons of weapons-grade U-235. Through 1968 more
than 330 kilograms of highly enriched uranium disappeared from NUMEC.3 In 1968,
Israel’s top spy Rafael Eitan visited the plant with his team of Israeli intelligence operatives
under false pretenses at the invitation of the plant’s president, Zalman Shapiro. Information
about this visit became part of the FBI investigative file on NUMEC. (Exhibit 1) 1968 was
the year of highest NUMEC losses.* The plant only returned to normal industry-level
losses soon after the Atomic Energy Agency engineered a buyout, termination of Israel joint-
ventures, and transfer of top executives.’

6. According to lengthy investigations by the Federal Bureau of Investigation, the
earliest demanded by the CIA, NUMEC was unique among U.S. government nuclear
contractors in its formal and informal ties to Israel and Israel’s clandestine nuclear weapons
operatives and front organizations. Many FBI files are now in the public domain.°
NUMEC President Zalman Shapiro knew Benyamin Blumberg, who formed Israel’s
LAKAM (Bureau of Scientific Relations) intelligence and covert operations agency that

collected scientific and technical intelligence abroad. Avraham Hermoni, technical director

2 "Highly Enriched Uranium: Striking a Balance" U.S. Department of Energy, 2001 released to the Federation of
American Scientists on February 2, 2006 http://www.fas.org/sgp/othergov/doe/heu/striking.pdf
3 “Did Israel Steal Bomb-Grade Uranium from the United States?” Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists, April 7, 2014
http://thebulletin.org/did-israel-steal-bomb-grade-uranium-united-states7056
4 “Revisiting the NUMEC Affair” Victor Gilinsky and Roger Mattson, Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists, May 30, 2013
5 “Divert! NUMEC, Zalman Shapiro, and the Diversion of US Weapons Grade Uranium into the Israeli Nuclear
Weapons Program” Grant F. Smith, IRmep, 2012
6 Archived at http://IRmep.org/ila/numec
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of Israel’s nuclear bomb project at RAFAEL was Shapiro’s frequent guest both at his home
in Pittsburgh and at NUMEC. Shapiro held rushed clandestine meetings with Israeli
intelligence operatives such as Jeruhem Kafkafi which took place under FBI surveillance’.
NUMEC formed a joint venture, ISORAD, with the Israeli Atomic Energy Commission,
later determined to be a front for nuclear weapons development. This “joint venture”
required shipping hollow, sealed “irradiators” under non-standard logistical arrangements
prioritized to leave the United States as quickly as possible.

7. According to a 1980 NUMEC employee eyewitness (Exhibit 2) account to the FBI,
Shapiro and unknown accomplices stuffed irradiators with highly enriched uranium (HEU)
canisters before sealing for rush shipment to Israel.

8. High officials at the CIA went on the record claiming that Israel diverted HEU
trom NUMEC for use in its clandestine nuclear weapons program. The head of the
Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) invited CIA Deputy Director for Science and
Technology Carl Duckett to brief the NRC about safeguards issues. Duckett told a stunned
NRC executive audience not only that CIA believed Israel had illegally obtained HEU from
NUMEC, but that the stolen material was used to produce Israel's first atomic bombs.
Duckett confirmed the CIA’s finding that Israel had already assembled nuclear weapons by
the mid-1960s. Israel began to practice A-4 jet bombing run maneuvers that were only
warranted if the explosives being delivered were atomic rather than conventional. Such

practice runs to guarantee aircraft and pilot survival "would not have made sense unless it

7 “Revisiting the NUMEC Affair” Victor Gilinsky and Roger Mattson, Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists, May 30, 2013
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was to deliver a nuclear bomb."$ A summary of the CIA briefing was released under FOIA
to the Natural Resources Defense Council. (Exhibit 3)

9. John Hadden was CIA station chief in Tel Aviv from 1963 to 1967 and was tasked
with collecting environmental samples outside Dimona for radiation testing. Hadden told
congressional investigators, "NUMEC had been an Israeli operation from the beginning but
the CIA had not been able to follow the money trail. The agency thought NUMEC had been
financed by the owner of Apollo steel mill, Israeli War of Independence veteran David
Lowenthal.” Hadden said that any suggestion that Angleton (John Jesus Angleton, the top
CIA counterintelligence official and Israel liaison) had actually helped the Israelis with the
NUMEC operation was “totally without foundation.”®

10. In a 1978 BBC interview Hadden revealed that Israeli spy Rafi Eitan, who had
visited the NUMEC plant at the invitation of Zalman Shapiro, was complicit in the removal
of material. "The Israelis, and they are gentlemen. Just imagine to yourself how much easier
it would be to remove a pound or two of this or that at any one time, as opposed to—which
is inert material—as opposed to removing all at one blow. 150 pounds of shouting and
kicking Eichmann.!” You see, they are pretty good at removing things.” (Exhibit 4) In the
mid-1980s Eitan became publicly known in the United States as the Israeli handler of

convicted spy Jonathan Pollard, who is currently serving out a life sentence.

8 "The American Connection: How Israel Got the Bomb," Jon J. Fialka, The Washington Monthly, January, 1979 p
51
9 “Dangerous Liaison, The Inside Story of the U.S.-Israeli Covert Relationship,” Andrew and Leslie Cockburn, p. 78-
80, Harper-Collins, 1991
10 Ejtan and a team renditioned Nazi war criminal Eichmann from Argentina to Israel in 1960.
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11. The CIA discovered traces of enriched uranium in Israel in the mid-1960s,
touching off an investigation to determine which handful of countries then in possession of
multi-billion dollar gaseous diffusion plants was the source.! Energy Department officials
visiting retired former Atomic Energy Commission head Glenn Seaborg in 1978 told him
the signature of the uranium picked up outside Dimona in Israel was of that of a specialized
signature provided to NUMEC. (Exhibit 5)

12. The CIA was initially compelled by President Lyndon B. Johnson to suppress its
tindings about NUMEC and Israel’s possession of nuclear weapons built with material
diverted from NUMEC. When CIA Director Richard Helms advised LBJ of CIA findings,
he was ordered by LBJ to not further discuss it. (Exhibit 3)

13. In July of 1969, according to declassified files,'?> National Security Advisor Henry
Kissinger noted ““There is circumstantial evidence that some fissionable material available for
Israel’s weapons development was illegally obtained from the United States about 1965...
This is one program on which the Israelis have persistently deceived us,” Mr. Kissinger said,
“and may even have stolen from us.”!3

14. Concerns in Congtress that illegal activity had occurred and was simply covered up
triggered new interest in finally determining what had happened at NUMEC during the Ford
administration. Attorney General Edward Levi ordered the FBI to investigate whether

criminal statutes had been violated in the diversion and whether a government cover-up had

11 Transcript of the BBC News program “Panorama”, June 26 1978, included as Exhibit 4
12 Archived at http://www.irmep.org/ila/numec/07191969_Kissinger_Israeli_Nuclear_Program%20.pdf
13 “Israel’s Nuclear Arsenal Vexed Nixon,” David Sout, The New York Times, November 29, 2007.
http://www.nytimes.com/2007/11/29/world/middleeast/29nixon.html?_r=0
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ensued.” Another FBI investigation, with additional input by the CIA and General
Accounting Office (GAO) commenced and continued until the end of the Carter
administration.

15. The CIA has long taken the position that none of its “source” files about
NUMEC or derivative equity content can ever be made public. It has issued blanket denials
of Freedom of Information Act requests from the late 1970’s onward filed by such
investigative reporters as John Fialka of the Washington Star.1>

16. On May 13, 2010 the Plaintiff requested “declassification and release of all cross
referenced CIA files related to uranium diversion from the Nuclear Materials and
Equipment Corporation (NUMEC) to Israel. This request includes, but is not limited to CIA
content provided for publication in the now declassified 1978 GAO report titled ‘Nuclear
Diversion in the U.S.? 13 Years of Contradiction and Confusion.” The request was broad.
(See Exhibit 6) It is known in the public domain that the CIA possesses thousands of
NUMEC files.

17. On September 10, 2010, months in excess of the twenty day FOIA response limit,
the CIA confirmed receipt of the Plaintiff’s request and assigned it number F-2010-01210.
(See Exhibit 7)

18. On August 28, 2013, over three years after the Plaintiff’s filing of the request, the

CIA issued a “final response to your 13 May 2010 Freedom of Information Act FOIA

14 FBI Airtel, special agent in charge, Washington Field Office to FBI director, [subject redacted], June 15, 1976,
Benjamin Loeb papers, Library of Congress Manuscript Division
15 Reviewed by the Plaintiff at the Library of Congress Manuscripts Division, Benjamin Loeb Papers
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request.” The CIA segregated and released nothing it had generated about the diversion,!¢
stating “We completed a thorough search for records responsive to your request and located
material that we determined is currently and propetly classified and must be denied in its
entirety on the basis of FOIA exemptions(b)(I)and (b)(3).” (See Exhibit 8)

19. On September 19, 2013 the Plaintiff administratively appealed the CIA denial and
also challenged the CIA on whether it was conducting the required periodic reviews of
operational and related files for release. (See Exhibit 9).

20. On March 28, 2014, nearly four years after the initial FOIA, the CIA denied the
plaintiff’s administrative appeal, segregated and released nothing. (See Exhibit 10). Although
the Plaintiff had legal standing much earlier to seek a de 7ovo judicial review of the adequacy
of the Defendant’s search and whether it was conducting reviews of classified material that
should be automatically released after fixed durations and other applications of FOIA and
declassification directives, the Plaintiff instead chose to allow the Defendant as much time as
it required to fully exhaust its administrative process.

21. The Defendant now bears the burden of justifying to the court its longtime
blanket nondisclosure of NUMEC files under FOIA exceptions, of demonstrating that it
conducted a bona fide search and that the agency has adequately segregated exempt from
non-exempt information. See 5 U.S.C. § 552(a) Part of this burden to the court may involve

the production of detailed Vaughn indexes or even 7 camera review of the documents in

16 The CIA did re-release internal memorandums about why it would not allow release of CIA equity in the 1978
GAO report titled “13 Years of Conflict and Confusion” due to the need for a “coordinated Executive Branch
position and our desire to protect a sensitive and valuable liaison equity.”
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question.

22. As it conducts a de novo review of the adequacy of the Defendant’s search for
files, the Defendant’s prior assertions that operational files and derivative products about
NUMEC should not be released, and the Defendant’s determinations that nothing was
segregable or releasable, the court should consider that the CIA’s previous release
determinations on NUMEC files have already been overruled.

23. On December 18, 1978 the Government Accounting Office!” (GAO) issued the
report “Nuclear Diversion in the U.S.? 13 Years of Contradiction and Confusion.” Because
it contained CIA equity, in 1978 the CIA was opposed to public release of a report originally
chartered to quell concerns in Congress and the American public that uranium was illegally
diverted from NUMEC, and that nothing was ever done about it. The four allegations
investigated by GAO were as follows. “A. The material was illegally diverted to Israel by
NUMEC management for use in nuclear weapons. B. The material was diverted to Israel by
NUMEC management with the assistance of the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA). C. The
material was diverted to Israel with the acquiescence of the United States Government. D.
There has been a cover-up of the NUMEC incident by the United States Government.”

24. At the CIA’s insistence in 1978, and in opposition to the will of the Congress, the
entirety of the GAO report was originally classified as “secret” and not publically released.

25. In May of 2009, the GAO asked the CIA and FBI to engage in a mandatory

declassification review of the secret GAO report “Nuclear Diversion in the U.S.? 13 Years

17 Since renamed the “Government Accountability Office”
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of Contradiction and Confusion” for public release. The CIA redacted all of its equity
content. The FBI did not. The GAO released a CIA-redacted copy of the report to the
public on May 6, 2010.

26. On March 18, 2014 the Interagency Security Classification Appeals Panel, a
review board that issues rulings “on appeals by authorized persons who have filed
classification challenges under Section 1.8 of E.O. 13526 overturned the CIA’s
determinations and released most of the equity the CIA had redacted from the GAO report
before the 2010 release. (A page by page comparison of CIA redactions vs ISCAP reversals
of CIA may be found in Exhibit 11)

27. On March 18, 2014 the ISCAP also overruled CIA’s blanket of secrecy over
NUMEC and released the April 2, 1968 appeal from then-CIA Director Richard Helms to
Attorney General Ramsey Clark urging the FBI “initiate a discreet intelligence investigation
of an all source nature of [NUMEC president| Dr. Shapiro in order to establish the nature
and extent of his relationship with the Government of Israel” in the name of counter-
proliferation. (Exhibit 12).

28. The ISCAP also compelled partial release on March 18, 2014 of CIA Deputy
Director of Covert Operations Theodore Shackley’s July 28, 1977 phone briefing on the
NUMEC diversion, including content about how then-CIA director George H.W. Bush had
briefed President-elect Jimmy Carter on the matter. Recipient of the Shackley briefing
Jessica Tuchman Mathews, a national-security official in the Carter administration, stated “I
do not think the President has plausible deniability. The CIA case is persuasive...” (Exhibit

13).
-10 -



29. The Plaintiff therefore asserts on the basis of evidence that the Defendant has
neither properly reviewed files in its possession nor equity held by other parties for release.
The CIA has never denied that CIA files on the NUMEC matter exist. Records in the
public domain confirm that “thousands” of CIA files have been generated on the matter.

30. For example, in 2013 the National Archives released an April 25, 1979 Carter
Administration Attorney General memo that their Internal Security Section "completed a
detailed review of thousands of CIA documents..." on NUMEC which necessitated further
FBI investigations. (Exhibit 14) The name of the National Security Council file folder
containing these documents is revealing, “NSA Staff Material: Global Issues Box 41, Folder:
Proliferation: Apollo, PA 5/77-11/79.”

31. Some of CIA’s impropertly retained records are almost certainly about internal
investigations, particularly whether the agency or any of its operatives abetted the diversion
of uranium from NUMEC. This is documented in an August 2, 1977 memo to President
Jimmy Carter from his national Security Advisor Zbigniew Brzezinski. “So far as we know
however, (and we have made serious effort to discover it) there is nothing to indicate active
CIA participation in the alleged theft.” (Exhibit 15).

32. A number of historical records produced by the FBI and Naval Intelligence about
such conventional weapons smuggling fronts for Israel as Foundry Associates, the
Sonneborn Institute, Materials and Manpower for Palestine, Mar Tech, Service Airways and
other fronts that endangered Americans by shipping mislabeled explosive cargo, stealing U.S.

government military property, stealing veterans lists from the U.S. chaplains, undermining
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the Neutrality and Arms Export Control Act and other laws through illegal activities!® are
now available as public records.’ Also in the public domain are records about why the U.S.
Department of Justice only prosecuted a handful of lower-level operatives but not the
identified kingpins of the smuggling operations due to their ability to use “war chests” to
“quash” warranted prosecutions.?

33. However NUMEC records about similar Atomic Energy Act violations that were
covered up and never prosecuted could now soon be lost to posterity under mandatory
document destruction guidelines, burying a vital chapter of history forever.

34. There is a strong and growing public interest in the immediate disclosure of the
requested CIA documents concerning NUMEC. Currently U.S. taxpayers are being
maneuvered into position to pay for a massive clean-up of the contaminated environs caused
by the severely undercapitalized, safety-scoffing NUMEC smuggling front operations in
Apollo, and neighboring Parks Township in Pennsylvania.?! In January of 2015 the U.S.
Army Corps of Engineers estimated the NUMEC cleanup will cost just under half a billion
dollars over the next decade.??

35. Further confirming that NUMEC really was as CIA officer John Hadden asserts,

“an Israeli operation from the beginning,” will allow concerned U.S. citizens, anti-corruption

18 “Arming David: The Haganah’s Illlegal Arms Procurement Network in the United States, 1945-49,” Ricky Dale
Calhoun, Journal of Palestine Studies, Vol 36 No 4, Summer 2007
1% FBI File regarding Foundry Associates Incorporated-Neutrality Act; file number 2-1-1Q-875, 4,000 plus pages of
FBI files available at the National Archives and Records Administration in College Park, MD.
20 File archive at http://www.irmep.org/ila/feinberg/
21 “Americans Pay Dearly to Maintain Israel’s Nuclear Secrets: CIA endangers NUMEC toxic waste cleanup,” Grant
F. Smith, October 20, 2011 http://original.antiwar.com/smith-grant/2011/10/19/americans-pay-dearly-to-
maintain-israels-nuclear-secrets/
22 “Nuclear-Dump Cleanup Gets Complicated,” John R Emshwiller,., Wall Street Journal, January 29, 2015,
http://www.wsj.com/articles/pennsylvania-nuclear-dump-cleanup-gets-more-complicated-1422558579
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and taxpayer watchdog organizations to use withheld CIA and other available government
files verifying these facts in litigation against the Israeli government for cleanup, health, and
other NUMEC-related damages.

36. Failing that, citizens could lobby members of Congress to deduct costs of the
NUMEC cleanup from the massive annual taxpayer-funded foreign aid packages delivered
to Israel in the same way that U.S. loan guarantees are occasionally withdrawn when there is
evidence of improper use in Israeli settlement activity.

37. It is important to note under Executive Order 13526 §3.1(a) that documents may
not be classified in order to “(1) conceal violations of law, inefficiency or administrative
error; (2) prevent embarrassment to a person, organization or agency; (3) restrain
competition; or (4) prevent or delay the release of information that does not require
protection in the interest of national security.”

38. The U.S. government continually misuses its classification authority on matters
concerning the Israeli nuclear weapons program, of which NUMEC is only one component.
Adding insult to the original injury, FOIA exemptions are misused to delay release
indefinitely.

39. It is also important to note that although most government agencies do not

discuss issues touching on the Israeli nuclear arsenal under various gag regulations,?3

23 “Lawsuit Challenges U.S. Ambiguity Toward Israel’s Nuclear Arsenal,” Grant F. Smith, Washington Report on
Middle East Affairs, January/February 2015 http://www.wrmea.org/2015-january-february/lawsuit-challenges-
u.s.-ambiguity-toward-israels-nuclear-arsenal.html
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Americans are not fooled. A September 2014 Google Consumer Survey revealed that 63.9
percent of American adults believe Israel has nuclear weapons.?*

40. As noted, Lyndon Baines Johnson’s immediate response to news of NUMEC was
to order the CIA director’s silence. Evidence suggests it was domestic special interest group
politics rather than national security that triggered LBJ’s response. One of LBJ’s longtime
campaign contribution bundlers was Abraham Feinberg. At times LB] was in possession of
hundreds of thousands of dollars of Feinberg-raised cash in White House safes.?>
According to "Israel and the Bomb" author Avner Cohen (1998), Israeli Prime Minister
David Ben-Gurion secretly named Feinberg his chief nuclear weapons fundraising
coordinator in 1958. According to Michael Karpin's "The Bomb in the Basement" (2007)
Feinberg and 25 others contributed $40 million to the Israeli nuclear weapons program in
opposition to presidents Eisenhower and Kennedy non-proliferation efforts.

41. Recently declassified Nixon administration files reveal the president agreed to
comply with Israel’s policy of not confirming or denying the existence of its arsenal under
special interest pressure to avoid a ‘“Zionist campaign to try to undermine” him rather than
any legitimate national interest.2°

42. The GAO was right to investigate the NUMEC matter in 1978 as a government
cover-up. When problems with materials diversion became overwhelming, at great taxpayer

expense AEC chairman Glenn Seaborg engineered NUMEC’s buyout and a management

24 Google Consumer Survey, “Do you believe Israel Has Nuclear Weapons?”
http://www.google.com/insights/consumersurveys/view?survey=7gfftskexqbf4&question=1&filter=&rw=1
25 “The Samson Option” Seymour M. Hersh, Chapter 14, Random House, 1991
%6 |Israel's Nuclear Weapons Program, ISCAP declassification, March 18, 2014,
http://www.archives.gov/declassification/iscap/pdf/2009-076-doc1.pdf
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transition by an oilfield services company Atlantic Richfield in 1967 by dangling a $30
million per year Hanford facilities management contract.?’

43. Zbigniew Brzezinski was eager in 1977 to divert public attention away from
NUMEC diversion questions raised by CIA information and toward general “safeguards”
findings by one of the AEC’s successor organizations, the Energy Research and
Development Administration (ERDA). “There is a tremendous amount of interest in this
issue in Congress...We face tough sledding in the next few weeks in trying to keep attention
focused on ERDA's technical [overall U.S. nuclear material loss and safeguard remedy]
arguments. On the FBI investigations, and away from the CIA's information." (Exhibit 15)
In 2014 Brzezinski told the Wall Street Journal the evidence suggested that “something did
transpire” but that if theft was proven, “What are we going to say to the Israelis, ‘give it
back?”’28

44. Most Americans, if asked such a simple question, would probably say, “yes,” be
appalled by the real reasons for the wall of secrecy, and wonder whether such deference to
domestic special interests—not national security—continues to generate similar abuses.

45. There currently is no FOIA exemption enabling “deference to special interests.”
Existing FOIA exemptions cannot lawfully be used for such purposes.

46. Quashing warranted public disclosure and informed debate through spurious

claims of secrecy undermines governance in the United States and the spirit of FOIA as

27 AEC Operating Contract No. AT (45-1)-2130 between USA and Atlantic Richfield Hanford Company.
http://www.irmep.org/ila/numec/contract.pdf
2 “The U.S. Suspected Israeli Involvement in 1960s Missing Uranium” John R Emshwiller, The Wall Street Journal,
August 5, 2014. http://www.wsj.com/articles/u-s-suspected-israeli-involvement-in-1960s-uranium-theft-
1407352852
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reiterated by President Obama upon entering office, "The Freedom of Information Act
should be administered with a clear presumption: In the face of doubt, openness prevails.
The Government should not keep information confidential merely because public officials
might be embarrassed by disclosure, because errors and failures might be revealed, or
because of speculative or abstract fears. Nondisclosure should never be based on an effort to
protect the personal interests of Government officials at the expense of those they are
supposed to serve. In responding to requests under the FOIA, executive branch agencies
(agencies) should act promptly and in a spirit of cooperation, recognizing that such agencies
are servants of the public."?

47. Defendant CIA is an agency of the United States and has possession of and
authority to release the document that Plaintiff seeks.

48. Plaintiff believes he and the public have a compelling right of access to CIA’s
NUMEUC files. The Plaintiff believes their publication will reveal important insights into the
functions of government. Enabling these insights to produce oversight and better
governance is the reason FOIA exists.

49. The basic question is, as former Nuclear Regulatory Commissioner Victor
Gilinsky formulated it in a 2014 Wall Street Journal article, "We know the CIA thought the
material was stolen. We want to know why they thought that."3

50. The D.C. Circuit applied the general federal statute of limitations, which is found

2% White House Memorandum on FOIA, January 21, 2009,
http://www.whitehouse.gov/the_press_office/Freedom_of_Information_Act
30 “The U.S. Suspected Israeli Involvement in 1960s Missing Uranium” John R Emshwiller, The Wall Street Journal,
August 5, 2014. http://www.wsj.com/articles/u-s-suspected-israeli-involvement-in-1960s-uranium-theft-
1407352852
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at 28 U.S.C. § 2401 (a), to FOIA actions in Spannaus v. Department of Justice.
In the relevant portion Section 2401 (a) states, that "every action commenced against the
United States shall be barred unless the complaint is filed within six years after the right of
action first accrues." It was held that the FOIA cause of action accrued— and, therefore,
that the statute of limitations began to run— once the plaintiff had "constructively"
exhausted administrative remedies in Spannaus.

51. The Plaintiff’s administrative remedies were exhausted by the CIA’s March 28,
2014 denial of his appeal.

52. This complaint is filed well within the six year limit.
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests this Court:

(1) Declare the Defendant's failure to comply with FOIA to be unlawful;

(2) Otder the Central Intelligence Agency to disclose the requested records in their
entirety and make copies promptly available to him;

(3) Award Plaintiff costs in this action, as provided in 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(E);

(4) Award attorney's fees if such assistance is later engaged in this action as provided
in 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(4)(E) and

(5) Grant such other and further relief as may deem just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

AP —

Grant F. Smith, Pro Se

gsmith@IRmep.org
(202) 640-3709

Dated: February 13, 2015
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Exhibit List

Exhibit 1: NUMEC letter advising of Israeli spy Rafi Eitan’s team plant visit—September 27,
1968, FBI memo about visit—October 17, 1968

Exhibit 2: FBI FD-302 Report — Eyewitness to nuclear diversion at NUMEC—September
21, 1980

Exhibit 3: Inquiry into the Testimony of the Executive Director for Operations,
Unclassified, Office of the General Counsel, Office of Inspector & Auditor, U.S. Nuclear
Regulatory Commission—February 1978

Exhibit 4: Transcript of the BBC News program “Panorama”, excerpt 6 pages of 17 — June
26 1978

Exhibit 5: Glenn T. Seaborg Papers, Library of Congress, Manuscript Division - Glenn
Seaborg office diary: DOE claims Shippingport U-235 picked up in Israel — June 21, 1987

Exhibit 6: Freedom of Information Act Request to CIA for NUMEC files — May 13, 2010
Exhibit 7: Freedom of Information Act confirmation from CIA — September 10, 2010
Exhibit 8: Freedom of Information Act final response from CIA — August 28, 2013

Exhibit 9: Freedom of Information Act administrative Appeal to CIA — September 19,
2013

Exhibit 10: Freedom of Information Act appeal denial from CIA—March 28, 2014

Exhibit 11: Nuclear Diversion in the U.S.? 13 Years of Contradiction and Confusion. Report
by the Comptroller General of the United States, December 18, 1978. —May 6, 2010 release
with CIA redactions (Right side) March 18, 2014 release with ISCAP overrulings of CIA
redactions (Left side).

Exhibit 12: Director of Central Intelligence Agency memo to Attorney General Ramsey
Clark—April 2, 1968

Exhibit 13: Memorandum for Jessica Tuchman from John Marcum on Israel and MUF—
July 28, 1977

Exhibit 14: Memorandum to the Attorney General from Frederick D. Baron RE: NUMEC
Investigation—April 25, 1979

Exhibit 15: Memorandum to the President from Zbigniew Brzezinski, Subject Nuclear MUF
Frederick D. Baron RE: NUMEC Investigation—August 2, 1977
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Mr. Harry R. Walsh, Director

Security & Property Management Division

New York Operations Office J’
11, §. Atomic Energy Commission

376 Hudson Street

New York, New York 10014

[}

= ) i s
Dear Mr. Walsh: ' g bic]l
Reference your telephone call concerning the September 10 visit of Messrs.
Hermonli, Bgndor, Eitan and Biegun, Israeli citizens. Please be advised of
the following.
The above mentioned gentlemen met with Dr. Shapiro, D. Purdv, T. Hursen, f’b

J. williams, and S. Kolenik. With the exception of Dr. Shavpiro, all of
PR

the NUMEC personnel are in our Energy Conversion Department and are ther:
electric generator specialists.

Discussion with the Israeli nationals concerned the possibility of d eloping
plutonium fueled thermo-electric generator systems in the 5 and 50 miiljwatt
power level. Specifically, they were interested in 10 generators in the

5 milliwatt range. Each of which would be fueled with about 2 grams of
plutonium. The 50 milliwatt generator is considered a remote possibility,
but would use approximately 20 grams of plutonium. The generators are of

the terrestrial type.

We are proceeding to make a proposal to these gentlemen for this work using,
of course, only unclassified information which is already in the publ:ic
domain. It is also our understanding that these same gentlemen have visizte

several of the major nuclear organizations in the United States to ceve.o.
proposals from them on these items.

I trust this satisfies your needs. kj?ﬂ)'

’
v

Very truly yours

.
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DECLASSIFICATION
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EAEMPTION CODE ZE5X4l,&) RET

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
FEDERAL BUREAY {'i‘)é!I{H;VEjSTIGAT‘ION m

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

tober 17, 1968

DR. ZALMAN MORDECAI SHAPIRO

Investigatign was instituted st the reqgues
the Attorney Generallgg establish the nature and ex
of Zalman Mordecsi S apiro's relationship with the

im““@@verﬂment%ofmlsrgela This could be connected with
addition to, or as”@“fésuitwafywhiswassﬁgiation wit
Israeli officigls wund Sympathizers in the United Stet

On September 6, 1968, Clem Pulazzolo, Secy
Office, :tomic Energy Commission (AEC), Germmntown.J
Maryland; sdvised that AEC, New York City., had rece
been requested by the following individugls to visit
Nuclear Materials Equipment Corporation {NUMEC) , Apa

g 7&““ b4 ﬁ)

o

Sy
i
? "lZ

Avraham’ﬁérmonig Scientific Counselor,

Israeli Embassy, Washington, p. Ces

e zx’

Dr. Ephrmig/ﬁiegun, Department of Fl rong
Israel, bornl F '

NI AVrahamePondor . Depirtuent of Eleetrenjes,
INL Israel, born|
YA

e Raphsel Fitan, Chemist, M.i.nis.t.fy of Defense
R Israel, born| in[ |

: On September 26, 1968; Clem Palazzolo, supi
made availgble g copy of a letter dated September 12,
1968 . from| Manager, Security, NUMEC,

Apollos Pa., to Harry R. %alsh, Director, Security &

This document contains neither recommendations
nor conclusions of the FBI. It is the property
of the FBI and is loasned to your agency; it and

its contents are not to be distributed outside
your agency.
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UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTIqR

FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION ’

;;ﬁbe%meyaw Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
tie o,

March 25, 1980

FORMER EMPLOYEE OF NUCLEAR
MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT CORPORATION,
APOLLO, PENNSYLVANIA;
ATOMIC ENERGY ACT

On March 21, 1980, |
at his residence ang provided The following infip

as interviewed
mation:

[ A

This document contains neither recommendp-
tions nor conclusions of the FBI. It lis

the property of the FBI and is loaned Mo your
agency; it and its contents are not tol|b{
distributed outside your agency.
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v%%"‘(*” FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION

3/24/80

. Date of transcription
I I b6
| [ telephone] | brc
was interviewed at his residence. After being advised of
the identities of the interviewing Agents and the nature
of the interview, provided the following informa-
tion:

|advised that he was employed by Nuclear
Materials and Equipment Corp. (NUMEC) in February, 1965,
(exact date unknown) and was continuously employed

at the Apollo, Pa., facility through two ownership changes
until October, 1978. |advised that he was fired
in October, 1978, by the present owner, Babcock and Wilcox,
Inc., for job abandonment following an alleged job related
illness.

:ladvised that upon being hired at NUMEC,
he was given three days of schooling on the equipment he

was to operate and briefed by the Personnel Manager and

Low Enrichment Facility Foreman concerning the security
measures at the Apollo facility nuclear plant. He then
commenced his production line job upon completion of this
brief schooling. [ |related that his exact position
was Senior Ammonator Operator in the Low Enriched Operations
area, which was immediately adjacent to the loading dock
area of the Apollo nuclear facility. further
described the NUMEC Apollo plant as being broken down into
four areas: the Low Enriched area, the High Enriched area,
the Sphere area, and the Peletizer area. He advised that
although his full-time job was on the Low Enriched Area
Ammonator, he worked overtime in the High Enriched area

on several occasions.

Iadvised in late March or early April,

1965 (exact date unknown) while working on a swing shift

from 3:30 p.m. until 12:00 a.m., his Ammonator was shut

down between approximately 9:00 and 10:00 p.m. in the evening.
He stated that because of the negative air pressure within

the plant area, conditions were usually very warm sSo he
walked out to the loading dock for a breath of air. The
loading dock was located approximately 20 feet from his
equipment through a single door. [::f&::::]advised that

3/21/80 Apollo, Pa. Pittsburgh 117-108
Investigation on at File #
SAg | - b6
[ [ 3/24/80 b7c

by - Date dictated

This document contains neither recommendations nor conclusions of the FBI. it is the {Srﬂdp‘efty 6f tﬁesF'B?\ah“q as I§a§)§d to your agency;
it and its contents are not to be distributed outside your agency.
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MY opiay:
employees often went to the loading dock to get a '
of air and further said he thought he remembered an employees'
eating area on the dock.
b6
[::::::::] related that when he entered the loading b7cC
dock area on this particular evening, he noticed a flatbed
truck backed up to the loading dock with some strange equip-
ment on it. He described the equipment as several steel
cabinets with some kind of gauges on the front of them and
other equipment which looked like a lathes.
opined the equipment may have come from the Peletizer area
of which he was not familiar. | |advised he then
noticed the NUMEC owner, Dr. Zalman Shapiro, pacing around
the loading dock whilel [Shipping and Receiving
Foreman) and _ [truckdriver for NUMEC) were
loading "stove pipes™ into the steel cabinet type equip-
ment that he observed on the truck. | irecalled
that there were four or five of the steel cabinets
flatbed truck. stated that | and
never loaded trucks themselves, always employing other workers.

[::::::::] stated that the "stove pipes" are cylindrical
storage containers used to store canisters of high enriched
materials in the vaults located at the Apollo nuclear facility.

stated that the "stove pipes" contained three
or four canisters which were described as highly polished
aluminum with standard printed square yellow labels, approxi-
mately three inches in diameter by six inches tall, that

normally were used to store high enriched uranium products
which[:f:::::::]defined as 95 percent uranium.

[ ]stated that he observed two workmen,
whose names he could not recall, bringing the "stove pipes"
from the High Enriched vault area located approximatels
150 feet from the docks to the dock area where[:::::::fand
opened the "stove pipes" and withdrew the canisters
located in the "stove pipes". He then said| checked
the label on each canister for information and checked it
off on a shipping order he had attached to a clipboard.

advised that the canisters were then replaced
in the "stove pipe" and then the "stove pipe" itself was
loaded into the cabinet type equipment after being wrapped
with a brown paper type insulation. advised that
he observed one cabinet being loaded an at the "stove
pipes" were placed one in each back corner of the cabinet
and one in the front center of the cabinet directly behind
the door.

described the canisters found in the
"stove pipes™ as approximately three inches by six inches,
bright polished aluminum canisters with yellow labels con-
taining typewritten information and nuclear "fan" symbols
in the upper corners of the label.| |said he had

SAlL YA Fragy
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never observed typewritten information on the labels that
he had previously seen on the dock. F .

Wi ot

ajvised he was sure this was Hi@g ‘En- b6

riched uranium products due to the «size and shape of the b7C
container and the labeling. He stated that the containers
he used in the LOW Enviched area sere much larger than the

canisters he observed and used a different label

stated he had never seen "stove pipes"
used as shipping containers hut whenever Hign Enr iched
uranium products were shipped, the canisters were unloaded
from the "stove ipes" and loaded into cement 1ined steel
drums. further advised that the route the wor kmen
transporting the "stove pipes" used took them away from
the Low Enriched area and nrought them onto the dock through
a different door. The Lovw Enriched materials vyaults were
located approximatel 50 feet from the dock area down an
angled corridor. said the normal route for High
Enriched materials from the High Enr iched yaults was down

the same corridor where the Low Enr iched yaults were lo-
cated.

citing his natural curinsity, stated
he observed | ~ \lay his cli poard down on an empty
arum located on the dock , whereupon(:E:::::::]Qroceeded
to read the information contained on the shipping order.
He said he noticed that the Jestination for the equipment
on the truck was Israel, and that it was to be transported
py ship. He recalled that the ship had a long foreign name
which he pelieved toO € Greek, and its location at the time

!?4"

was in Ne“”YOfkaity‘Q-

advised that ne pelieved tne ship's
name was Greek pecause when he was in the U.S. Navy (1956-60) «
he was 2 radic man third class stationed at the Naval Radio
Facility, Londonderrys Nor thern Treland, and had handled

[:::::::::]stated that after he had quick
the information contained on the shipping order,
grabbed the clipboard away from him, telling him 1n words “
to the effect that the material contained in the shi ing

order was confiﬁential and not for nis eyes.

advised that shortly thereafter, an armed guard ordered

him off the loading dock . {;::::::::]stated ne 4°1 not ob-
serve anybody call the arme guard nor did he see the guard

on the dock, sut that he neliaved the gard came from on:

,messagesfrommGreek,Shippingamong.otherS/ﬁ‘.

of the hallways adjoining the dock. stated that
he was on the Loading dock for approxxmatelv 15 minutes
and that at no time did Dr. Shapiro, or

or anybody else ask him to leave.

. Ll
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b6
further advised that it was highly unusual b7C

to see Dr. Shapiro in the manufacturing section of the Apollo

nuclear facility; it was unusualk to..see, Pr, Shapiro there

at night; and very unusual to Seg’Dr. Shapiro so nervous

as to pace around, described Dr, Shapiro as a

very calm, cool and collected man who hever got upset,

E;:::::::]advised tihat the only records and docu-
mentation he had access to were the shift productions records

for the Low Enrichment Area and then only during the specific
shift on which he was working. He stated that at the comple-
tion of each shift, the records were removed from the manu-

facturing area angd taken across the street to the administrative
offices.

He stated it was highly unusual though that any equipment
would be shipped at night,.

[:;::::::]advised that he had not seen previously
the equipment he noted on the loading dock and flatbed trailer

and that he had not seen the equipment subsequent to that
incident or any equipment like it in the NUMEC Apollo nuclear
facility.

stated he became aware of the alleged

diversion of nuclear materials through newspaper articles
which caused him to think. He said that "everyone" at the
Plant knew there were losses of materials from the High
Enriched area but nobody seemed to care during the time
the facility was owneg by NUMEC. He stated when Atlantic
Richfield Company purchased NUMEC, the losses stopped,

further stated that néwspaper accounts of the
alleged diversion mentioned Doctor Shapiro, and he recalled
that just prior to the previously mentioned incident, it
was an open plant rumor that Doctor Shapiro had just re-
turned from an extensive vacation in Israel.

[::;;::::] advised he had not come forward before
because he had a large family to sSupport and the day following

the incident, the plant Personnel M ger (name unrecalled)
of NUMEC threatened to fire[;::::::fffif he "did not keep
his mouth shut" concerning what he had Seen on the loading
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dock the night before. |furthe¢ advised he men- igc
tioned the threat he received f Personnel Manager '
to his union steward, whereupon |claims he was

visited by "sone union goons"” from Kittanning, Pa., and
again told to keep his mouth ;shut.

[ lstated the prévailing attitude at the
plant in 1965 by management, union and the employees was
that the Atomic Energy Commission was the enemy looking
for a reason to shut the faciltity down with the resultant
job losses. 1In addition, he stated he did not know how

or who to contact in authority who wou}d take action.

| ladvised that he could recall no other
information concerning this incident which occurred in late
March or early April, 1965.
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information. They had other information such as a type of bombing
practice done with A-4 aircraft that would not have made sense unless it
was to deliver a nuclear bomb.

By the time of the NRC briefing the question of whether U-235 had been
diverted from NUMEC was academic for the CIA because plutonium from the
Dimona reactor was believed to be available. Therefore, from the CIA's
intelligence point of view the diversion did not matter. The last
inspection of Dimona was in 1969. In his view it was less than an
adequate investigation to determine whether plutonium was there. After-
wards Israel refused to permit inspections. Furthermore, a shipment of
200 tons of non-enriched uranium from Argentina had been diverted to
Israel through a West German cut out.

Mr. Duckett raised the question of whether the U.S. had intentionally
allowed material to go to Israel. He said that if any such scheme was
under consideration, he would have known about it and he never heard so
much as & rumor about this., He, therefore, does not believe there is
any substance to this allegation. In support of this view, he related
that CIA had drafted a National Intelligence Estimate on Israel's
nuclear capability in 1968. In it was the conclusion that the Israelis
nhad nuciear weapons. He showed it to Mr. Helms. Helms told him not to
publish it and he would take it up with President Johnson. Mr. Helms
later related that he had spcken to the President, that the President
was concerned, and that he had said "Don't tell anyone else, aven

Dean Rusk and Robert McNamara.'

Mr. Duckett was asked about the reactions of NRC officials who were
present at his briefing. He said that Mr. Anders was very concerned and
felt that already too many people had been exposed to the information.
After the briefing Mr. Duckett went to Mr. Kennedy's cffice. Mr. Kennedy
wanted to talk about more frequent interchange of information between

the NRC and the CIA. Mr. Anders came in and wanted to apologize for
having so many people present. He said he did not realize how sensitive
the information was and if he had he would have restricted the attendance
gven more. Mr. Anders said that, in the future, he should deal only

with Mr. Kennedy and him, and that in light of the sensitive nature of
the information he was going to go to the White House. During this
session, Mr. Duckett recalls that one Commissioner, probably Mr. Mason,
commented with mock jocularity "My God, I almost went to work for R

Zal Shapiro. I came close to taking a job with him." By the end of the
meeting it was a pretty somber group. Mr. Duckett does not recall that
the staff actively participated in the briefing. He pointed ocut that it
was not a formal briefing. It was more of a discussion for the whole
session,
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NO?B:  THIS TRANSCRIPD BAS BIEN TYPED FeoM A TEIEDI FICNE RECCRDING
AND NOT COPIED FROM iU ORIGTNAL SCRIPT, BRCLUSY C THE RISK op
MISHEARING AND THE DIFPICULYY, IN SOi& A5ES, IN IDENTIFYING
WIDIVIDULL SIEAKIRS, TED BEC CAVNOT VOUCH ¥OR ITs 2 CTR.CY,

PANORAIMA
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Recorded from transmission 2010 (BEC-1) 26th June, 1978
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CH/RIES WEZZIIR: e Good evening., It is now seven
months since President Sadat of Egypt went to Isrzel in search of
peace.  His journey eplit the Arab world and threatened his own
position as an Arab leader, As for peace, it seems no nearer,

if anything the reverse, So why did Sadat launch such 2 mission
without the preparation. that might have told him it would fail %
Various rezsons have bteen put forward, ranzing fren Egypt's dire

economic need for a settlement, to Sadat's own btelief that a touch
of dram= would create the climate for a breakthrouzh,

One other factor hasg been su.-ested:  +there is speeula
Sadat was at least rertly mov by the belief that Tores
the ultimote deterrent, the atonm bomb. The runour tha
has been arcund for years, but recently informat’ on
light tha* shows how Israel may have acqguired the rmoean
benb, In 2 parallel investigation with the Insiffll tean of the
SUNDAY TIMES, whose boox W%ethMﬁffﬂdw‘mmeow;&ﬁQﬁ
PANCRAML now traces two of the ways by which Hossad, the Jsraeli
Secret Serv'ce, apparently obtoined the ingredicents

Tom Bower reports,
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TOM BOVIR: In 1958, this port of +n
in Israel was declared o restricted area and closc
It was the brginning of Israells vorldwide stratesy to et
and technology to build sn atomic boub, Dimona weas ncces
to the holders of spzcial psrmits, Covered lorries passe c
security checks brin g the raterials ang equipment for what is

simultaneously one of Israell's most closely guarded secrets,, and a
deliberately cultivated ambiguity, *

4]

.
TAng

h O

- oy
It is the strangth of the security soresn that has created the £
belief that Israel has introduced the zvomic bomb into {2 Middle Zast
Israel has answered all requests for information with the bland rep
that the area was scheduled as the centre for Israzlls texiile 1
The colour of the Isracli textilus, a spokesman gaig

- ¥
blue, In fact wnder & secret agrecment sign o in 1958, Fronce hog
3¢ & 00T,
yrovided Israel with the technienl detnils for cuilding a nuclesnw

reactor., Still trotected by complete scourdty vlackout, it is telisved
to be able to rroduce enough plutonius for Jus’ over ons Hiroshina tyee
atomic bomb per year, T was conpleted arownd <980, and in orerntic
fouwr years loter, Since then Isreel has refused o ghare its nuel
secrets, even with the United States,
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Throuchout Isracl has ingisted that 1t wonld nover be the first to
jntroduce nucleer weapons into the Middle Bast, ond that Dimona would
only be used for peaceful purposeS. N

When Dinonals secret was discovered by the Americans in 1960, the CIA
in Tel Aviv was ordered to investigate the extent of Teraolls Progrannes.
I sensitive intelligence operation in en allied country. Officially
listed as the Political Officer, John Hoddon claims there are eig@t
main factors that convinced him that Israel had embarked on &an atomic
bomb Prograrie. . :

Firstly, the construction of facilities to produce and handle nuclear
materials like Dimona.

Secondly, the development of weapons technology, especially the type
which can carry tactical nuclear warheads for use in conventional
Warss :

Thirdly, the flow of key persénnel, the numbers specialising in
nuclear physics and who were being trained in the many arcas necessary
for & nuclesr Programmne.

Fourthly, the attitude of the leadership to the nuclear question,
General Dayan had hinted that Israel should declare 1t has the bombe

Pifth, the armed forces had bought and developed a vehicle, he Jericho
missle, which can deliver an atonic bombe

Sixth, existing plancs had been specially adapted to carry atomic bombs.

Seventh, the delivery pattern of bomber
ight on a nuclear attack is diffexen

s on training muns. “he plane's
from o conventional attacke

Bighth, analysis of the acrial water near nuclear installations for
traces of bomb grade uranium, Tew doubted that Isracli geientists -
hed the knowledge to derign and build an atomic bombe S

Vhat renained unknown was whether the political decision had besn
taken to use that expertise and bulld onee -

Combining his intelligence discoveries with ths earlier public
resignation of all but one of Israel's Atomic .nergy Commission,
Haddon was oonvinced that the pro-bomb lobby had won the argunente.
JOHN HADION: My judgment would be that the pros
have probably won most of the arguments, That would be ny feelinge.

*
BOWER: The pros - you mezn the Israell pros
for heving the bomd 7

HADDOI s ) Yes, I think thet, becouse if T were an
Tsreeli I would want the bomb, 1 think the Israelis would went to teke
out an insurance policy, so that if the Lrabs got it and if the Arabs
used it, they would have gomething in their elinge

M
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BOWER s But they have also stated that
although they can't go in for o limitless armg roce, that they also
would not be the first to introduce nuclear weapons into- the area.
How do you see those two statements as compatible 7

-

HLDDOH ¢ Well, I think that the second one is
very easily handled in that in that area you have the Soviet Fleet
and the U,S.Sixth Fleet, both of which as I understand it, have
introduced atomic weapons into the area.

HADDON ¢ So you mean that if Israel get the
bomb they will be the third ? (Yes) VWhich therefore is consistent
with not being the first 7

HADION: Yes, 4And you can go on, you can

- T think the Americans use this term ‘'scenario! , there's another
one. Let us suppose that you have a weapon and that it is in a
vehicle, that everything is all set to go, and only the last screw
remains to be in place, to complete it. Well you haven't introduced
then have you, until wou put that last screw in,

BOWER: . ' It was another agent that supplied the
CIA in Vashington with what was considered to be conclusive eviidenoe
that Isrzel had built the bomb. The agent rerorted the discovery of
traces of bomb grade enriched uraniuwn near a sccurity zone, The CIA's
conclusions were taken straight to President Johnson, by the ten director
Richard Heliige . Their conversation was reported 'n 1977 by Jarmes
Duckett, lNo. % in the Agency., It was Tackett wholnd told Helms of the
discovery., Duckett's repert of that conversation was nistakenly
released under the Freedom « £ Information Jjict.

VOICE OVER: In it was the conclusicn that the Tsraelis
had nuclear weapons. He showed it to Mr, Helms, Helms told hir not to
publish it, that he would take it up wvith President Johnson. Mr, Belms
later related that he had spoken to the President,that the President was
concerned, and that he had said 'Don't ell anyone ¢lse, even Dean Rusk
and Robert Macnamara',

e T

BOWER ¢ ‘ In another CIA Secret Report on -

ther Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, written in 19?49 and again
nistakenly released, the Agency drew on more intelligence reports to
conclude that Isrsel had the bombe ’

—

VOICE OViR: We believe that Israel has already
produced nucleer weapons. Our judguent is based on Isracli acquigition
of large quantities of uranium, partly by clandestine meons, the
ambiguous . piture of Israeli efforts in the field of wuraniun enrichment,
and Istoel's large investment in a costly missile systen designed fo
accommodate nuclezr warheads.

HADDOH s I think that the publicetion of highly
clessified documents was a nmistake.

A
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BOWIR S There is absolutely no doubt thet this
is a highly classified document ? N

HADDOMN 3 1 was told that it was. .
BOWER s There are two sources of material to

make en atomic bombj enriched uranium and plutoniun processed from

wraniun ore. It is nov believed that during the 1608, Israel

launched at least two clandestine oneratig s to obitain both materials.
. . reputable . ‘ R

Tn both operations Israel relied on Usinessmen, on incdequate

controls, end on 2 series of coverupsS.

The NUMEC diversion is suspected 10 be the first of Israel's succesful
operations. NUMEC, the Nuclear Vaterials and Bgouipment Corporation,

was founded in 1957 to build enriched wraniws wmits for America's

groving nuclear fleet, Security was the nanagenents resnonsibility,
although zllegedly supervised: by the U,S,Atomic Fnergy Commissione

The management was accountable for each gran of enriched wranium

delivered, not only because of its monetary value -~ it's worth two

thousand five hundred pounds & pound, but more importantly its strategic
potential,  Just twenty pounde«of#enrfched ureniun is sufficient for & ™

o

Hivoshina type A=-bormb. et in 1960, AEC inspectors discovered that at v

least two hundred pounds of enriched wraniun delivered to NEC was . .
nissing.

In the investigation which followed, the ARC aiscovercd that in contrast
to surveyed security, WUMEC had delegated the task so o receptionist at
the front door. Viorse still, meny of the vital 1ecerds which

accounted for each gran of the uraniuwmts wnit vas 2ither lost or had been
accidentally destroyed in a fire.

NUMEC lanagenent's explanatiors for the loss all mroved o be bogus or
misleading., The missing two hundred pounds wore never found,
Frustrated, the [EC decided nevertheless to drop their investigations
and cover up the loss.

Only in the nid=160s when the CIA discovered the fraces Ef enriched
wranivm in Israel were the investigations reopeneds L massive
three-pronged investigation revenled that NUMEC!s management with
access to top secret nuclear information had very clese links with
Tepecli nuclesr scientists and had allowed them to visit the plonte

In perticular NTUMIC's founder and yresident, Zalman Shapiro, an ardent
Zionist, but a frequent and privileged visitor to Isracl, Jointly owned
a company with zn Teraeli Group which dealt in nuclear materisls, and
had 2 scrambler telephone direct from the factory to en Ioreeli
Government office in llew Yorke

Yet eightecn months of CIA and FBI telephone tops and round the clock
surveillsnce, failed to prove that Shepiro was elther a foreign agent
or that he ¥mew of a deliberate plan to divert the twe hundred pounds
to Israels

AM
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Shapiro refused to be interviewed on film, but during a three hour
conversation he insisted that the two hundred pounds worth over one’
nillion aollers, was simply lost during the industrial process. An
excuse dismissed by one expert saying that NUMEC would have had to
have been in operation since the hmerican revolution in 1776 to have
lost that anount. ‘

The Goverrment, sensitive to the implications of stability in the
Middle East, ordered the AEC to keep the loss and the investigation
secret, The coverup lasted until 1974, when an Inquiry was ordered
into the security of nuclear naterials.

The investigator, James Conran, discovered the coverup,that the NUIE
uraniun had probanly gone to Israele He insisted that the Conmigsion
take action.

JAMES COIRAN: - I told the Comission thav I had
discovered information, that there likely had becn a theft of nuclear
meterial, fron at least one facility, for the purposes of a foreign
Power,

BOWER ¢ ind vhat was their reaction te your
information 7

CONRAM: ' Feer, panic, an attempt to scramble
and cover up, ignore this information.

BOWER When the Commission refused to act,
Conran reported his discovery to the U.S,Congress, Now three
different committees are investigating the NUMEC loss, All three have
_been warned that a public statement that the uranium did go to Igresl
inevitably means Israel has the atonic bombe

O STOCKTON: & T think the argument would go that it
would bve seriously distabilising if indeed a United States official,
someone in the Congress, stated positively that the Israelis had a
bomb, because of the potential impact on the Arabts. And their
potential reaction to that, of course that whole issue has been mooted
now, we have been seriously worriecd about this, that however the CIA
by misteke released the docunents saying just that,

BOVIER Had the CIA warnesdyou as well, tha
it would be a mistaoke,

STOCKTON 3  Tes, they had,

BOWER e What's your reaction been to those

warnings 7

STOCKTON s We'lve boen very careful not to say
anything, and of course as soon as they released their docunent, tThe
National Intelligence esatimate which nede it very clear thatl in their
estimation Israel had a bomb, and that potentially their material

for that bomb had been obtained clandestinely, I don't see any
particular need to keep that secrct any longer, the fact that they
warned uvs on mmerous occasions not to make it explicit,

A ’
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BOWER: ' ' At what level had they warned you 7
STOCKTON ¢ At very high “levels, )
BOW R: Representative Morris Udall chaired’

one of the Inquiries into the NUMEC loss.

REP., MORRIS UDALL: It seems generally conceded in the
Intelligence community that - and generally accepted in the Mid-Eazt -
that the Israelis have the bomb, and had it for a number of years.

It appears that they achieved this capability at about the tine

that some od the uranium was missing in the United States, so there's
a temptation to draw conclusions from this, There always secemed

to be & feeling among the investigators that I hope we don't find
something and maybe this will all go away, and it was pursued in the
days vwhen the trail was a little more warm, with the kind of vigour
that I would liked to have seen.

BOWER s What do you think happened ?

UDALL: If someone had to have me write in an
envelope vwhether a diversion occurred or didn't occur, and I were
going to be put to death if I answered wrong, I suspect I'd have to
put in the envelope that I believe there is a diversion.

EADDON 2 These gentlemen have been extraordinerily
adept at removing things at long distance.

BOWER: Which gentlemen arc we talking about 7

HADDON 5 The Israelis, end they are gentlemen.
Just imagine to yourself how much easier it would be to remove & pound
or two of this or that 2t any one time, as opposed to - which is inert
material ~ as opposed to removing all at one blow 150 1bs of chouting
and kicking Eichmarm. You see, they are pretty good at removing
things. So I would have no argument with that kind of & jndgnent
without knowing anything about it,.

.

BOWIER s You mean it would be quité consistent -
with Israeli practice to clandestinely go about getting any materials
they needed? &,

HADDON ¢ Well, there were thoseships out of

Cherbourg, and there was that - there was that garage full of Mirage
plans, I don't think it's unusual for them to hove remove. things or
acquired things,

BOVER 3 The other operation by which Isrsel
is now known to have clandestinely obtained uwranium ore suitable to
convert into bonmb grade plutonium, is the so-czlled Plumbat Affair,

At 2 pem. on November 16th, 1968, a special train carrying two hundred

tons of uranium orc was shunted onto Berth No. 42 in the fntwerp Docks,
AM :
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Transcription

| met from 2:15 to 3:15 p.m. with Bill Knauf and Jim Anderson of the Division of Inspection of the
Department of Energy. Their purpose was to interview me on the allegation that Zalman Shapiro of the
Nuclear Materials and Equipment Corporation of Apollo, Pennsylvania diverted large amounts of highly
enriched Uranium-235 to Israel in the 1960's.

They questioned me about the degree of surveillance [surveillance] of the Atomic Energy Commission
commissioners on the NUMEC and the actions of the Commission when the loss of material was
reported. | described the manner in which the commission operated and the responsibility of the staff in
this connection.

They focused a good deal on the dispute which the commissioners had with John Mitchell in 1970 when
he wanted to deny the upgrading of Shapiro's clearance without granting him due process.

In response to this questioning | said that the commissioners were motivated by the desire to give
Shapiro a proper hearing as well as by their concern that the scientific and legal community would
disapprove of any denial of due process.

They were interested in how the matter was finally settled. They told me that they had already
discussed this with Ramey and | agreed with them that Ramey served as the means by which a position
was found for Shapiro with the Westinghouse Corporation, hence rendering the question of clearance
upgrading as moot. They told me that as late as 1971 the CIA wanted to pursue this further but Mitchell
declined to do so.



They asked about any discussions | have had with Helms about this matter and | described the luncheon
meeting | had with him in 1967 or 1968 during which | asked Helms if he had any evidence beyond that
which | had and Helms replied that he did not. They are going to interview Helms. They are probably
going to interview Mardian but not John Mitchell.

They have interviewed Howard Brown and the BBC has also interviewed Howard Brown, giving him a
hard time. They indicated that BBC may try to interview me. They said that Shapiro has now engaged
the law firm of Arnold and Porter and this law firm may get in touch with me.

| asked them if any responsible persons feel that Shapiro actually diverted material to Israel. They
replied that nobody with a scientific background believes this but that it is difficult to convince some
members of Congress. They said that some enriched Uranium-235 which can be identified as coming
from the Portsmouth, Ohio plant has been picked up in Israel which, of course, has exited some
members of Congress. However, such enriched material has been sold on an official basis to Israel and
this could be the source of the clandestine sample.

They indicated that they would let me read the draft of their summary of our conversation today in
order that | might make any necessary corrections.
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Calvert Station info@irmep.org
P.0. Box 32041 Phone: 202-342-7325

Washington, DC 20007 Fax: 202-318-8009

.1
g ‘ A'ne

Delores M. Nelson Institute for Research: Middle Eastern Policy
Information and Privacy Coordinator

Central Intelligence Agency

Washington, D.C. 20505

P

Fax: (703) 613-3007

RE: FOIA Request

Dear Coordinator,

Under the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. subsection 552, | am requesting declassification and
release of all cross referenced CIA files related to uranium diversion from the Nuclear Materials and
Equipment Corporation (NUMEC) to Israel. This request includes, but is not limited to CIA content
provided for publication in the now declassified 1978 GAO report titled “Nuclear Diversion in the U.S.?
13 Years of Contradiction and Confusion.”

We request a waiver of all fees for this request as a nonprofit, tax exempt research organization.
Disclosure of the requested information to IRmep is in the public interest because it is likely to
contribute significantly to public understanding of the operations or activities of the government and is
not primarily in our commercial interest.

If you have any questions about handling this request, please call me at 202-342-7325.

Sincerely,

Grant F. Smith

Director of Research

Cc: Cover “Nuclear Diversion in the U.S.? 13 Years of Contradiction and Confusion.”
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Central Intelligence Agency

Washington, D.C. 20505

10 September 2010

Mr. Grant F. Smith

Director of Research

Institute for Research: Middle Eastern Policy
Calvert Station

P.O. Box 32041

Washington, D.C. 20007

Reference: F-2010-01210
Dear Mr. Smith:

On 18 May 2010, the office of the Information and Privacy Coordinator received
your 13 May 2010 Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request for records “relating to uranium
diversion from the Nuclear Materials and Equipment Corporation (NUMEC) to Israel.” We have
assigned your request the reference number above. Please use this number when corresponding
so that we can identify it easily.

The CIA Information Act, 50 U.S.C. § 431, as amended, exempts CIA operational files
from the search, review, publication, and disclosure requirements of the FOIA. To the extent
your request seeks information that is subject to the FOIA, we accept your request and will
process it in accordance with the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, and the CIA Information
Act. Unless you object, we will limit our search to CIA-originated records existing through the
date of this acceptance letter. As a matter of administrative discretion, and in accordance with
our regulations, the Agency has waived the fees for this request.

The large number of FOIA requests CIA receives has created unavoidable delays making
it unlikely that we can respond within the 20 working days the FOIA requires. You have the right
to consider our honest appraisal as a denial of your request and you may appeal to the Agency
Release Panel. A more practical approach would permit us to continue processing your request
and respond to you as soon as we can. You will retain your appeal rights and, once you receive
the results of our search, can appeal at that time if you wish. We will proceed on that basis unless
you object.

Sincerely,

iy
o

Scott Koch
Acting Information and Privacy Coordinator
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Cenral Intelligence Agency

Washington, D.C.. 20505

28 August 2013

Mr. Grant F. Smith

Director of Research

Institute for Research: Middle Eastern Policy
Calvert Station

P.O. Box 32041

Washington, DC 20007

Reference: F-2010-01210
Dear Mr. Smith:

This is a final response to your 13 May 2010 Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request
for records “relating to uranium diversion from the Nuclear Materials and Equipment Corporation
(NUMEC) to Israel.” We processed your request in accordance with the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, as
amended, and the CIA Information Act, 50 U.S.C. § 431, as amended. Our processing included a
search for records as described in our 10 September 2010 acceptance letter.

We completed a thorough search for records responsive to your request and located
material that we determined is currently and properly classified and must be denied in its entirety
on the basis of FOIA exemptions (b)(1) and (b)(3). An explanation ot exemptions is enclosed.
Exemption (b)(3) pertains to information exempt from disclosure by statute. The relevant statute
is the Central Intelligence Agency Act of 1949, 50 U.S.C. § 403g, as amended, Section 6, which
exempts from the disclosure requirement information pertaining to the organization and functions,
including those related to the protection of intelligence sources and methods. As the CIA
Information and Privacy Coordinator, I am the CIA oftficial responsible for this determination.
You have the right to appeal this response to the Agency Release Panel, in my care, within 45 days
from the date of this letter. Please inc'ude the basis of your appeal.

We conducted a search of our previously released database and located the enclosed four
documents, totaling 11 pages, which we believe may be responsive to your request. Please be
advised that these documents were released as part of another release program.

Sincerely,
-
‘_// . / d s 7l 4

Michele Meeks
Information and Privacy Coordinator

Enclosures



Explanation of Exemptions

Freedom of Information Act:

(b)(1) exempts from disclosure information currently and properly classified, pursuant to an
Executive Order;

(b)(2) exempts from disclosure information, which pertains solely to the internal personnel rules
and practices of the Agency;

(b)(3) exempts from disclosure information that another federal statute protects, provided that the
other federal statute either requires that the matters be withheld, or establishes particular
criteria for withholding or refers to particular types of matters to be withheld. The (b)(3)
statutes upon which the CIA relies include, but are not limited to, the CIA Act of 1949;

(b)(4) exempts from disclosure trade secrets and commercial or financial information that is
obtained from a person and that is privileged or confideatial;

(b)(5) exempts from disclosure inter-and intra-agency memoranda or letters that would not be
available by lawto a party other than an agency in litigation with the agency;

(b)(6) exempts from disclosure information from personnel and medical files and similar files the
disclosure of which would constitute a clearly unwarranted invasion of privacy;

(b)(7) exempts from disclosure information compiled for law enforcement purposes to the extent
that the production of the information (A) could reasonably be expected to interfere with
enforcement proceedings; (B) would deprive a person of a right to a fair trial or an
impartial adjudication; (C) eould reasonably be expected to constitute an unwarranted
invasion of personal privacy; (D) could reasonably be expected to disclose the identity of a
confidential source or, in the case of information compiled by a criminal law enforcement
authority in the course of a criminal investigation or by an agency conducting a lawful
national security intelligence investigation, information Turnished by a confidential source ;
(E) would disclose techniques and procedures for law erforcement investigations or
prosecutions if such disclosure could reasonably be expected to risk circumvention of the
law; or (F) could reasonably be expected to endanger any individual’s life or physical
safety; .

(b)(8) exempts from disclosure information contained in reports or related to examination,
operating, or condition reports prepared by, or on behalf of, or for use of an agency
responsible for regulating or supervising financial institutions; and

(b)(9) exempts from disclosure geological and geophysical information and data, including maps,
concerning wells.

April 2012



SECRET

MEMORANDUM FOR: Director of Central Intelligence

VIA : Deputy Director of Centrél Intelligence
FROM : John H. Stein

Acting Deputy Director for Operations
SUBJECT : GAO Report on Alleged Nuclear Diversion
REFERENCE : Our memorandum-on the same subject,

dated 30 August 1978

1. Action Requested. Review options outlined
in paragraph 3 and note recommendations.

2. Background. Since forwarding Reference to
GAO, there has been no response to our letter. We
assume the report, as previously drafted, will stand.
GAO has asked us to declassify our contributions to
this report. We have worked on sanitization of the
report, and this version is attached. The FBI also
has been asked to sanitize their contribution and 1is
taking the position that they will not declassify.
The Department of Energy's position also is that
they do not want to declassify their portion.

3. Staff Position. This leaves us with two

options:
a. Clear the sanitized report for passage
to GAO:
(1) Pro - This is responsive to GAO's 25X1
request.

FADEWC DR
Appragved For Release 2006/12/04 - CIA-RDP81MO0980R001500050015-5
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(2) Con - In our sanitized report,
every effort was made _protect i igence
1 sources and methods
| |lhowever, the
sanitized report still would reveal sensitive
information when considered toge ] the
unclassified collateral material which
has appeared in the press and which the House
Committee on Interior and lnswular Affairs has

published in a booklet. |

b. Advise GAO that we cannot declassify our
report because of the need to have a coordinated
Executive Branch position and our desire to protect
a sensitive and valuable liaison equity.

(1) Pro - (Our reasons are identical
to those stated in paragraph 3a(2) above.)

(2) Con - This is unresponsive to GAO's
desires.

4. Coordination. This has been coordinated with
OLC, OGC, NE Division and CTS.

5. Recommendation. Option B. If you concur,
GAO will be advised orally by OLC.

John H. Stein

John H. Stein

Attachments:
A. GAO report

B. Booklet, |

SECRET
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MEMORANDUM FOR: Director of Central Intelligence §§%

.\/ -
VIA : Deputy Director of Central Intelligﬁﬂ@éﬂ L~
" 4
FROM : John H. Stein
Acting Deputy Director for Operations
SUBJECT : GAC Report on Alleged Nuclear Diversiou

REFERENCE . Our memorandum on the same subject,
dated 30 August 1978

1. Action Requested. Review options outlined
in paragraph 3 and notec recommendations.

2. Background. Since forwarding Reference to
GAO, there has been no respounse to our letter. We
assume the report, as previously drafted, will stand.
GAO has asked us to declassify our contributions to
this report. We have worked on sanitization of the
report, and this version is attached. The FBI also
has been asked to sanitize their contribution and is
taking the position that they will not declassify.
The Department of Energy's position also is that

they do not want to declassify their portion.

3. Staff Position. This leaves us with two
options:

a. Clear the sanitized report for passage
to GAO:

(1) Pro - This is responsive to GAO's
request.

r """ ' ST SECRET
, s
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{2) Con - In our sanitized report,
every effort was made to protect intelligence
sources and methods |
l [however, the
sanitized report still would reveal sensitive
information when considered together with the
unclassified collateral material which
has appeared in the press and which the House
Committee on Interior apd lpsular Affairs has

published in a booklet,

L

der -

Comn
[ ¢/j7, . Advise GAO that we cannot declassify our
\ ,V¢JB;D eport because of the need to have a coordinated
\%’C“‘ Executive Branch position and cur desire to protect
a sensitive and valuable liaiscn equity.

(1) Pro - (Our reasons are identical
to those stated in paragraph 3a(2) above.)

(2) Con - This is unresponsive to GAO's
desires.

(‘_,
4, Coordination. This has been coordinated with

OLC OGC, NE Division and CTS.

5. Recommendation. Option B, If you concur,
GAD will be aﬂv:sed orally by OLC.
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C°'A Attachments:
A. GAO report
1 B. Booklet,

‘Y. SECRET

Approved For Release 2004/10/12 : CIA-RDP81M00980R001500050016-4




c03242743 O“@Af

ILLEGIB

‘ﬁ/)d

Approved For Release 2004/07/16 : CIA-RDP81M00980R000800090051-9  _

SECRET 111 -é}dzafl

6 ull 1208

MEMORANDUM FOR: Director of Central Intelligence

VIA : Deputy Director of Centrél Intelligence
FROM : John H. Stein

Acting Deputy Director for Operations
SUBJECT : GAO Report on Alleged Nuclear Diversion
REFERENCE : Our memorandum on the same subject,

dated 30 August 1978

1. Action Requested. Review options outlined
in paragraph 3 and note recommendations.

2. Background. Since forwarding Reference to
GAO, there has been no response to our letter. We
assume the report, as previously drafted, will stand.
GAO has asked us to declassify our contributions to
this report. We have worked on sanitization of the
report, and this version is attached. The FBI also
has been asked to sanitize their contribution and is
taking the position that they will not declassify.
The Department of Energy's position also is that
they do not want to declassify their portion.

3. Staff Position., This leaves us with two
options:

a. Clear the sanitized report for passage
to GAO:

(1) Pro - This is responsive to GAO's
request.

SECRET
25X1
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(2) Con - | 55X 1

b. Advise GAO that we cannot declassify our
report because of the need to have a coordinated
Executive Branch position and our desire to protect
a sensitive and valuable liaison equity.

(1) Pro - (Our reasons are identical
to those stated in paragraph 3a(2) above.)

(2) Con - This is unresponsive to GAQ's
desires.

4. Coordination. This has been coordinated with
OLC, OGC, NE Division and CTS.

5. Recommendation. Option B. 1f you concur,
GAO will be advised orally by OLC.

John H. Stein

John H. Stein

Attachments:
A. ;A0 report
25X1 B.

SECRET
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MEMORANDUM FOR: Director of Central Intelligence

VIA : Deputy Director of Central Intelligence
FROM : John H. Stein

Acting Deputy Director for Operations
SUBJECT : GAO Report on Alleged Nuclear Diversion
REFERENCE : Our memorandum on the same subject,

dated 30 August 1978

1. Action Requested. Review options outlined
in paragraph 3 and note recommendations.

2. Background. Since forwarding Reference to
GAO, there has been no response to our letter. We
assume the report, as previously drafted, will stand.
GAO has asked us to declassify our contributions to
this report. We have worked on sanitization of the
report, and this version is attached. The FBI also
has been asked to sanitize their contribution and is
taking the position that they will not declassify.
The Department of Energy's position also is that
they do not want to declassify their portion.

3. Staff Position. This leaves us with two

options:
a. Clear the sanitized report for passage
to GAO:
(1) Pro - This is responsive to GAO's
request.
25X1
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(2) Con - In our sanitized report,
every effort was made_to protect intelligence
sources and methods |
[ however, the
sanitized report still would reveal sensitive
information when considered together wi the
unclassified collateral material Iwhich
has appeared in the press and which the House
Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs has

published in a booklet,

b. Advise GAO that we cannot declassify our
report becausc of the need to have a coordinated
Executive Branch position and our desire to protect
a sensitive and valuable liaison equity.

(1) Pro - (Our reasons are identical
to those stated in paragraph 3a(2) above.)

(2) Con - This is unresponsive to GAO's
desires.

4. Coordination. This has been coordinated with
OLC, OGC, NE Division and CTS.

5. Recommendation. Option B. If you concur,
GAO will be advised orally by OLC.

John H. Stein

John H. Stein

Attachments:
A. GAO repo
B Booklers ]
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IRmep http://www.irmep.org
Calvert Station info@irmep.org

P.0. Box 32041 Phone: 202-342-7325
Washington, DC 20007 Fax: 202-318-8009

Thursday, September 19, 2013 g ‘ l me

Agency Release Panel Institute for Research: Middle Eastern Policy
Michele Meeks, Information and Privacy Coordinator

Central Intelligence Agency

Washington, D.C. 20505

P

Reference: F-2010-01210 CIA records "relating to uranium diversion from the Nuclear Materials and
Equipment Corporation (NUMEC) to Israel.”

Dear Michele Meeks,

On August 28, 2013 the CIA denied in entirety the release of material on the above-referenced FOIA request of
May 13, 2010. (Attached) We appeal to the Agency Release Panel to reconsider this denial and release in full
all requested records, including the Carter administration Nuclear Materials and Equipment Corporation
(NUMEC) files.

The CIA Information Act of 1984, cited in the Agency's September 10, 2010 FOIA confirmation letter
(Attached), provided guidance over the review for release of relevant CIA files. As an outside public-interest
nonprofit, it is impossible for us to know whether the majority of the CIA's thousands of files about NUMEC are
considered to be "operational" or not. We believe they probably should not be since the diversion was not a
CIA operation, according to officials who spoke publicly about the matter.

Carl Duckett, the executive director for CIA operations, revealed that CIA Director Richard Helms wrote a
classified letter to Attorney General Ramsey Clark telling him that highly enriched uranium "processed at
Apollo might have ended up at Dimona" and requested that the FBI investigate NUMEC and its officials, many
who had strong ties to Israel. Helms also informed President Lyndon Johnson about Israel's nuclear weapons
program, to which LBJ famously responded, "Don't tell anyone else, even [Secretary of State] Dean Rusk and
[Defense Secretary] Robert McNamara." CIA Tel Aviv Station Chief John Hadden called the NUMEC incident
an "lIsraeli operation from the beginning.” These and other comments by CIA officials imply that while the
diversion of weapons-grade uranium from Apollo to Dimona was indeed an operation, it was not a clandestine
CIA operation authorized by a presidential finding, and is therefore probably unworthy of the decades of
agency refusals to researchers seeking file release.

However, even if CIA considers NUMEC files to be "operational files," under Sec. 702 "Decennial review of
exempted operational files" the CIA would have had to have conducted ten-year reviews for removal of
exemptions for release of NUMEC files. In particular, under subsection (b) CIA would have had to consider the
historical value and ongoing heavy public interest in the subject matter.

The NUMEC affair has been of intense public interest since the first press accounts of massive NUMEC
uranium losses were reported by the New York Times on September 17, 1966. A lingering question is whether
the ramshackle NUMEC facilities and operations that polluted the Kiski Valley, currently requiring a U.S. Army

! McTierman, Tom "Inquiry into the Testimony of the Executive Director for Operations” Volume 111, Interviews, February 1978. The CIA's Carl Duckett briefed NRC
commissioners in 1976. In 1978, Tom McTiernan of NRC investigated the 1977 Congressional testimony of NRC's Executive Director for Operations Lee Gossick to
see if Gossick lied to Congress about whether officials thought there was evidence of a diversion. The 1978 report of McTiernan's investigation contains recollections
by NRC people who attended the Duckett briefing in 1976. There is also a four page summary of an interview with Duckett. Nearly all of what Duckett said or what
others recalled he said was redacted from the public version of McTiernan's report that was eventually released to the public. However, one page (number 3) of the four
pages summarizing Duckett's interview summary was inadvertently released to the Natural Resources Defense Council when the report was first made public.



Corps of Engineers cleanup costing up to half a billion taxpayer dollars, were the result of its core mission as a
budget smuggling operation. Many such operations were established across the United States in the 1940s to
illegally obtain and smuggle conventional weapons. One key figure in the NUMEC scheme, David Lowenthal,
was just such a smuggler for Israel. Even in 2013, civil suits over accidental death and injury compensation
continue to be filed in Pennsylvania district courts by victims of NUMEC. However, aside from the public
remarks of Carl Duckett and John Hadden affirming an illegal diversion, the CIA has never fully divulged its
findings about NUMEC to the American public.

It is now known that the CIA generated a vast amount of data about NUMEC which could reveal a great deal
about the functions of government and fill important gaps in the historical record—which is the primary purpose
of the Freedom of Information Act. According to a Carter Administration memo obtained from the National
Archives this year dated April 25, 1979, the Internal Security Section of the Justice Department completed a
review of "thousands of CIA documents" about the NUMEC diversion. (Attached). Although Congress was to
have received the review to take warranted action, apparently such an accountability moment never occurred.

According to a previously released October 6, 1978 memo from John H. Stein, Acting Deputy Director for
Operations which accompanied the August 28, 2013 FOIA denial to us, the CIA believed intelligence sources
and methods might have been compromised if CIA material submitted for a 1978 GAO report® were combined
with information already in the public domain. Further, the CIA felt it could not declassify their report "because
of the need to have a coordinated Executive Branch position and our desire to protect a sensitive and valuable
liaison equity."

The Executive branch is demonstrably reticent to release classified files about Israel's nuclear weapons
arsenal in observance of the Nixon-Kissinger Meir policy of "strategic ambiguity." However, no educated
person inside or outside the Middle East any longer believes Israel doesn't have a nuclear arsenal. There is
an abundance of public domain information about clandestine nuclear weapons funding through nonprofit
corporations, yellowcake and technology transfers that helped build the arsenal—often against the wishes of
the countries from which such resources were extracted. Perhaps the Stein memo is saying that the U.S. was
once so reliant on Israel as an intelligence liaison it would have been counter-productive to let the public know
that Israel's agents stole sensitive military material. However, the Cold War is now over. Furthermore, the
Obama administration's 2009 executive order on Freedom of Information calls for a new "presumption” of
openness, and prohibits retaining material for decades that is "embarrassing” or casts a harsh light on
decisions made under such circumstances. Excempting 30+ year-old records under (b)(1) contradicts Obama
guidelines that "nothing should remain classified forever" and new automatic 25-year declassification targets.

As you may know, the ISCAP panel, which has an established record declassifying tightly held intelligence
files, is currently reviewing a number of NUMEC-related files for release, including the 1978 GAO report. CIA
is no longer the sole decision point for release of sensitive records about NUMEC. We believe it would be best
for compliance with the spirit of FOIA, the reputation of the CIA, and the benefit of the American public, if all of
the CIA's NUMEC-related material were released immediately.

Sincerely,

N

Grant F. Smith
Director of Research

Attachments.

% Nuclear Diversion in the US? 13 Years of Contradiction and Confusion, GAO, partially declassified and released in 2010
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Central Intelligence Agency

Washingten, D.CL 20505

28 March 2014
Mr. Grant F. Smith
Director of Research
[nstitute for Research: Middle Eastern Policy
Calvert Station
P.O. Box 32041
Washington, DC 20007

Reference: F-2010-01210
Dear Mr. Smith:

This responds to your 19 Septernber 2013 letter appealing our 28 August 2013 tinal
response to your Freedom of Information Act request for records relating to uranium diversion
from the Nuclear Materials and Equipment Corporation (NUMEC) to Israel.

The Agency Release Panel (ARP) considered your appeal and determined the material
denied in its entirety is currently and properly classified and must continue to be protected from
release on the basis of FOIA exemptions (b)(1) and (b)(3). Exemption (b}(3) pertains to
information exempt from disclosure by statute. The relevant statute is the Central Intelligence
Agency Actof 1949, 50 U.S.C. § 403g. as amended, Section 6. which exempts from the
disclosure requirement information pertaining to the organization and functions, including those
related to the protection of intelligence sources and methods.

Therefore, in accordance with Agency regulations set forth in part 1900 of title 32 of the
Code of Federal Regulations. the ARP denied your appeal on the basis of FOIA exemptions
(b)(1) and (b)(3). In accordance with the provisions of the FOIA. you have the right to seek
judicial review of this determination in a United States district court. Alternatively. the Office of
Government Information Services (OGIS) offers mediation services to resolve disputes between
FOIA requesters and federal agencies. Using services offered by OGIS does not atfect your right
to pursue litigation. For more information, including how to contact OGIS, please consult its
website, http://ogis/archives.gov.

Sincerely,
L/ L .
P T POTE/ Wi

u
Michele Meeks

Executive Secretary

Agency Release Panel
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The Honorable John D. Dingell

Chairman, Subcommittee on
Eneray and Power

Committee on Interstate and
Foreian Commerce

House 0of Reprecentatives

Dear Mr. Chairman:

On Adsust 12, 1977, you requested that we initiate an
investigation to determine the extent and contents of intel-
ligence and related nuclear safequards information regarding
a possible diversion of nuclear material from a U.S. facility
and the extent to which this information was disseminated
among those agencies having responsibilities in this area.

In response to your request, this report primarily
discusses two questions

--what information has been developed about the alleged

diversion? and

~--were the investigations done by the Federal Government
adequate?

As agreed with your office we plan to distribute the
report to certain other parties having an interest in it.
Specifically, we plan to provide the report to the Chairman
of the House Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs and
the Chairman of the Subcommittee on Energy, Nuclear Prolifer-
ation and Federal Services, Senate Committee on Governmental

[ ED BY (see inside front cover).
EXEMPT FR ERAL DECLASSIFICATION
SCHEDULE OF EXEC ~QRDER 11652

EXEMPTION CATEGORY 2

(This page is UNCLASSIFIED.)
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The Honorable John D. Dingell
Chairman, Subcommittee on
Energy and Power
‘ Committee on Interstate and
Foreign Commerce
House of Reprecsentatives

Dear Mr. Chairman:

On Adgust 12, 1977, you requested that we initiate an
investigation to determine the extent and contents of intel-
ligence and related nuclear safequards information regarding
a possible diversion of -nuclear material from a U.S. facility
and the extent to which this information was disseminated
among those agencies having responsibilities in this area.

In response to your request, this report primarily
discusses two questions

--what information has been developed about the alleged
diversion? and

--were the investigations done by the Federal Government
adequate?

As agreed with your office we plan to distribute the
report to certain other parties having an interest in it.
Specifically, we plan to provide the report to the Chairman
of the House Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs and
the Chairman of the Subcommittee on Energy, Nuclear Prolifer-
ation and Federal Services, Senate Committee on Governmental
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UNCLASSIFIED

Affairs. Further, we will also be providing the report to
the House and Senate Select Intelligence Committees and the
Federal agencies included in our review.

The report has been classified as SECRET/National Secu-
rity Information by the Federal Bureau of lInvestigation and
the Central Intelligence Agency. We made every attembt to -
issue an unclassified report on this matter. However, neither
the Federal Bureau of Investigation nor the Central Intelli-
gency Agency was able to provide us with a declassified version

of the report.

Sincer yours,

¢

L

Comptroller General
of the United States

. 2
UNCLASSIFIED
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The report has been classified as SECRET/National Secu-
rity Information by the Federal Bureau of Investigation and
the Central Intelligencé Agency. We made every attempt to
issue an unclassified report on this matter. However, neither
the Federal Bureau of Investigation nor the Central Intelli-
gency Agency was able to provide us with a declassified version
of the report.
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REPORT OF THE CCMPTRCLLZI®
GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES

NUCLEAR DIVERSION IN THE
UNITED STATES? 13 YEARS OF
CONTRADICTION AND CCNFUSION

It is not GAO's function to conduct criminal
investigations and this review should not be
construed as one. This report is simply a
presentation of facts as we have examined
them regarding the alleged diversion and its
accompanying 13 years of contradiction and
confusion. G&a0's efforts focused on the im-
plications such an alleged incident would
have for improving the effectiveness of the
Nation's current nuclear safegquards program.
InYestigations of the alleged incjdent by
the FBI and the Department of Energy's (DOE)
Office of Inspector General are still under-
wav.

WHY GAOQ'S REVIEW WAS MADE

Chairman John Dingell of the House Subcom-
mittee on Energv and Power requested GAO

to examine an alleged incident involving
over 200 pounds of unaccounted for uranium-
235, the material used in the fabrication

of nuclear weapons, from a nuclear plant in
western Pennsylvania. Also, Chairman John
Glenn of the Subcommittee on Energy, Nuclear
Proliferation, and Federal Services, Senate
Committee on Governmental Affairs, and Chair~
man Morris K. Udall of the Subcommittee on
Energy and Environment, House Committee on
Interior and Insular Affairs, expressed in-
terest in the review.

Chairman Dingell specifically asked GAO to
examine the extent and content of intelli-
gence and safeguards information regarding
the alleged incident, and the extent to
which this information was provided to DOE
and the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC)
for their use in assuring that nuclear ma-
terials were being adequately protected in
this country. . Chairman Dingell requested
that GAO review " * * * all necessary files

EMD-79-8
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NUCLEAR DIVERSION
UNITED STATES? 13
CONTRADICTION AXD CCNFUSION
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and reports including those of ERDA, NRC,
CIA, and the FRI * * =*x v

and reports including those of ERDA, NRC,
CIA, and the PRT * # # o CONSTRAINTS ON GAO'S REVIEW

GAO attempted to satisfy the Chairman's re-
guest by interviewing responsible Federal

and private individuals and by examining
pertinent reports and documentation. While
DOE 1/ and NRC provided full access to all
their records and documentation, GAO was con-

CONSTRAINTS ON GAO}S REVIEW

GAO attempted to satisfy the Chairman's re-
quest by interviewing responsible Federal
and private individuals and by examining
pertinent reports and documentation. While

DOE 1/ and NRC provided full access to all tinually denied necessary reports and docu-
their records and documentation, GAO was con- mentation on the alleged incident by the
tinually. denied necessary reports and docu- Central. Intelligence Agency (CIA) and the
mentation on the alleged incident by the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI).
Central. Intelligence Agency (CIA) and the
Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI). CIA provided GAO a written chronology of

. ) contacts with other Federal agencies, how-
CIA provided GAO a written chronology of . h
contacts with other Federal agencies, how- Q.LJJL&EQ;idtg20C::§e§§4§9L§QXL

|2t eefE o= |

evhr, the CIA denied GAO access tq, any

source documents on the case. According to

agency officials, this was a decision made ) l
|

by the Director of the CIA |

The CIA did subsegquently
allow selected staff of Chairman Dingell's
Subcommittee access to CIA documents, how-
ever, access to the documents was not ex-
tended to include GAO. '

" The CIA did subseguently
allow selected staff of Chairman Dingell's
Subcommittee access to CIA documents, how-
ever, access to the documents was not ex-
tended to include GAO.

W’irtﬁh'eﬁ[l;der staﬁltory authority of the
Central Intelligence Agency Act of 1949 (50
| U.S.C., section 403g) |

T 1/The Atomic Energy Commission (AEC) was for-

1977. NRC remained intact. Throughout
the report, DOE is used to refer to the
Department of Energy, ERDA, and AEC.

1/The Atomic Energy Commission (AEC) was for- merly responsible for both regulating and

merly responsible for both regulating and . promoting all nuclear activities in the
prgmog;ng all nUClegf a?ﬁ%vigleig;g t?f United States. In January 19, 1975, it
SZ;t:plitaiiié ti: Nizgggz Reéulato;y Com- was split into the Nuclear Regulatory Com-
mission and the Energy Research and Devel- mission anq §he Energy Research and Devel-
opment Administration (ERDA). NRC became opment Administration (ERDA). NRC became
responsible for nuclear regulation and responsible for nuclear regulation and

i ERDA became responsible for nuclear devel- | ERDA becaTe responsible for nuclear devel-

1 opment and promotion. Under Public Law i opment and ?romotlov. Under Public Law

( 95-91, ERDA's functions were placed in the % 95-91, ERDA's functions were placed in the

[ Department of Energy effective October 1, i Department of Energy effective October 1,

‘ ! 1977. NRC remained intact. Throughout

the report, DOE is used to refer to the
Department of Energy, ERDA, and AEC.
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that it did not want to
going investigation of tr
sion incident.

ieonardize an on-
zlleaed diver-

Because GAO was denied access to documenta-
tion, it had to rely, for the most part, on
oral evidence obtained in interviews with
knowledgeable individuals and staff. The
lack of access to CIA and FBI documents

made it impossible for GAO to corroborate

or check all information it obtained. When-
ever possible, GAO attempted to corroborate
the information with other knowledgeable in-
dividuals. One must keep in mind, however,
that the alleged incident occurred more than
13 years ago. These limitations impeded
GAQ's efforts to fully collect and evaluate
algy facts of possible relevance tg the al-
leced diversion incident.

While GAO normally would not continue work
where it was continually denied access to
pertinent ‘and important documentation, it
did continue in this case because of the
significant nuclear safeguards .mplications
and the congressional interest. This re-
report is focused on the implications the
alleged incident has for improving the ef-
fectiveness of the Nation's current nuclear
safequards program.

BACKGROUND

The alleged incident surfaced in 1965 at
the Nuclear Materials and Equipment Corpo-
ration (NUMEC). Since that time, many
allegations concerning the incident have
been made in newspaper and magazine arti-
cles and at congressional hearings. These
allegations include:

--The material was illegally diverted to
Israel by NUMEC's management for use in
nuclear weapons.

--The material was diverted to Israel by
NUMEC's management with the assistance
of the CIA.

C01162251
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--The material was diverted to Israel with
the acquiescence of the United States
Government.

-—There has been a cover-up of the NUMEC
incident by the United States Government.

CIA officials provided us with their views
on the first allegation and stated that they
had no information to substantiate any of
the others. Based on the totality of GAO's
inquiry, we believe that the allegations
have not been fully or adeguately answered.

Investigations of the incident were con-
ducted by DOE and the FBI. The CIA, NRC,

and the Joint Committee on Atomic Energy

also have some knowledge of the facts sur-
rognding the incident. All investigations 1/
of the alleged incident ended with no defini-
tive answer and GAO found no evidence that
the 200 pounds of nuclear material has been
located. However, as a result of the NUMEC
incident the safeguards programs in. the
United States have undergone substantial
changes and have improved significantly.

This report -addresses the two major gues-
tions still surrounding the incident and
their implications for this country's con-
tinuing responsibilities for safeguarding
stratecic nuclear materials. These are:

--What information has been developed about
the alleged NUMEC diversion?

--Were the investigations conducted by the
Federal Government into the alleged inci-
dent adeguate?

1/CIA officials informed GAO that they have
no authority to conduct "investigations”
of unaccounted for nuclear materials in
the United States. As used in this report
the term "investigation(s)" is used in the
context of the entire Federal effort to re-
solve ‘the incident.
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dent adequate?

1/CIA officials informed GAO that they have
no authority to conduct "investigations"
of unaccounted for nuclear materials in
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WHAT INFORMATION HAS BEEN
DEVELOPED ABOUT THE ALLEGED

Based on its review of available documents
held by DOE and discussions with those in-
volved in and knowledgeable about the NUMEC
incident, GAO cannot say whether or not
there was a diversion of material from the
NUMEC facility. DOE has taken the position
that it is aware of no conclusive evidence
that a diversion of nuclear material ever
occurred at the NUMEC facility, although it
recognizes that the possibility cannot be
eliminated. Agents from the FBI involved
in the current investigation told GAO that
while there exists circumstanial information
which could lead an individual to conclude
thgt a diversion occurred, there is no
substantive proof of a diversion.

Currently the FBI 'is continuing its in-
vestigation into the alleged NUMEC inci-
dent.

In an August 1977 meeting a former high
ranking CIA official informed GAO, in the
presence of several current CIA officials,
that information was developed by the CIA
that made it appear that the NUMEC facility
was the "most likely" source of the material

GAQ's

understanding of the information that was
presented at this meeting was subsequently
provided to CIA in a memorandum of conver-
sation. A knowledgeable CIA official who
reviewed the memorandum expressed no oppo-
sition to GAO's use ‘of the term "most
likely." .

Later, in a November 1977 meeting with CIA
officials,. GAO was informed that there was
no data to specifically support such a con-
clusion. Further, GAO was informed by CIA
officials that characterizing NUMEC as the
"most likely" source of the uranium-235 held
by Israel was not the official position of
the Agency but of perhaps one or two former
Agency officials. The CIA officials GAO
contacted informed us that the position ex-
pressed in the August 1977 briefing should

SECRER
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eliminated. Agents from the FBI involved
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have been changed to reflect a less conclusive
position. The CIA officials suggested that
LUMEC be recognized as only on2 of many pos-
sible sources of enriched uranium going to
Israel. Subseguently, however, two former
senior CIA officials responsible for collect-
ing and analyzing such data told GAO that
information does exist within the CIA link-
ing the unaccounted for NUMEC material to
Israel. One of these former officials was
one of the five highest ranking employees

of the CIA and reported directly to the
Director of the CIA on this matter.

Current CIA officials told GAO that these
two former officials were drawing on memory
as they recalled past events. The CIA of-
ficials having current access to the files
adfised GAO that a search of the ayailable
data reveals a "semantic" problem concerning
the use of the term "evidence." 1In short,
CIA states there is no hard evidence on a
diversion from NUMEC to Israel. At the same
time, current CIA officials recognize that
the available data, when coupled with past
recollections of events, could lead former
officials to speak in terms of "linking" the
unaccounted material from NUMEC to nuclear
developments in Israel. GAO was unable to
determine whether the CIA changed its opin-
ions about any NUMEC/Israel link or whether
the CIA inadvertently failed to comment on
the inaccuracy of the "most likely" position
conveyed to GAO in the August 1977 briefing.
The FBI agent currently in charge of the in-
vestigation told GAO that the FBI also re-
ceived conflicting stories from the CIA.
Initially, the CIA told the FBI investiga-
tors they had information supporting the
possibility that the material missing from
the NUMEC facility went to Israel. The CIA
later reversed itself and told the FBI it
did not have this type of information.

In 1975, the entire regulatory function of
DOE was taken over by the newly created NRC,
which was made responsible for the regula-
tory oversight of commercial nuclear facili-
ties like NUMEC, and consequently has become
involved in the incident. In a February
1978 report related to the NUMEC incident,
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In 1975, the entire regulatory function of
DOE was taken over by the newly created NRC,
which was made responsible for the regula-
tory oversight of commercial nuclear facili-
ties like NUMEC, and consequently has become
involved in the incident. In a February
1978 report related to the NUMEC incident,
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NRC concluded that their previous official
position of "no evidence" to support a di-
version may need to be reconsidered in light:
of the many uncertainties surrounding the
incident.

WERE_THE_INVESTIGATIONS CONDUCTED
BY THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT INTO
THE ALLEGED INCIDENT ADEQUATE?

If a diversion or theft of nuclear material
is suspected or ‘actually occurs in this
country, the Federal Government must be able
to quickly and definitively determine how

and why it happened so that the public can

be protected against the potential hazards
from such an occurrence. To do this, agen-
cies of the Government with capabilities

foy investigating and responding to such
incidents must work together to assure that
all relevant information is obtained and is
timely. This did not happen with the al-
leged NUMEC incident. Federal investigations
of the alleged NUMEC incident were uncoordi-
nated, limited in scope and timeliness, and,
in GAO's opinion, less than adequate. There
was not a unified and coordinated investiga-
tion of the incident by those agencies having
the capabilities to fully resolve the matter
--DOE, the FBI, and the CIA.

During 1965 and 1966 DOE investigated NUMEC's
accountability and safeguards system focus-
ing on the diversion possibility. Prior to
the alleged 1965 incident, DOE conducted six
accountability inspections at NUMEC in order
to assure that nuclear materials were being
adequately protected. The inspections were
directed solely at the material accounting
requirements of the time which were much
less vigorous than those in existence at
nuclear facilities today. Each inspection
revealed significant deficiencies, but DOE
allowed the facility to continue nuclear
operations even though a key field investi-
gator at one point recommended that DOE stop
providing nuclear material to the facility.

The FBI, which had the responsibility and

authority to investigate the alleged inci-
dent, did not focus on the gquestion of a
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vossible nuclear diversion until May 1976

--nearly 1l years later. Initially, the
FBI declined DOE's request to- conduct an
investigation of the diversion possibility
even though they are required to conduct
such investigations under the A:omic Energy
Act. Two sources familiar with the matter
gave GAO differing views on why the FBI de-
clined to undertake the investigation. Be-
tween 1965 and 1976 the FBI's efforts were
directed at investigating the actions and
asscciations  of NUMEC's president. FBI and
Department of Justice staff told GAQO that
after a request by President Ford in April
1976 the FBI did begin to address the diver-
sion aspect. GAO was not furnished any
documents regarding President Ford's re-
quest and ‘thus could not specifically
determine its nature and scope. - This
investigation, which is currently ongoing,
is dbviously hampered by the ll-yeax gap
since the alleged incident occurred. Also,
although it may not affect the investigative
outcome, GAO found that certain key indivi-
duals had not been contacted by the FBI
almost 2 years into the FBI's current
investigation.

According to the CIA, it did not conduct a
domestic investigation- of the  incident be-
cause it had no authority to do so.

Several current and former FBI and DOE
officials indicated that the CIA withheld
this information from them, at a time when
it could have affected the scope and direc-
tion of their investigations. However, cur-
rent CIA officials we contacted stated that
the full range of information[

Ii q T

was not available during the FBI investiga-
tion in 1968, Current CIA officials told
us that during the FBI's investigation be-
ginning in 1976 the FBI was briefed by CIA
in full and the FBI agent-in-charge told
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the CIA that he did not see any new informa-
tion in the presentation which was germane
to the FBI investigation. CIA officials
also told us that at about the same time

DOE officials, also briefed by CIA, said
that the information was consistent with
what had been known previously. GAO does
not know the extent to which the CIA re-
vealed to the FBI or DOE the information

it possessed. While the CIA may have
alerted these agencies, it does not appear
to us that it provided them with all the in-
formation it had on this subject in an ade-
quate or timely manner. It appears to GAO
that the CIA may have been reluctant to aid
thebdomestic investigation of the glleged
diversion because of its concern about pro-
tecting its own "sources and methods" of
obtaining information.

The failure of DOE,  the FBI, and the CIA to
coordinate their efforts on the suspected
diversion when it occurred and as new infor-
mation developed and the limitation in the
scope and timeliness of the FBI efforts,

lead GAO to conclude that the Federal efforts
to resolve the matter were less than adequate.

Currently, there exists no coordinated inter-
agency agreed upon plan which focuses on (1)
an adequate detection and investigative sys-
tem and (2) a reporting system to the appro-
priate congressional committees and to the
President. As a result, if a similar inci-
dent were to occur today, this country may
not be assured of any better investigation.
The United States needs to improve its ef-
forts for effectively responding to and in-
vestigating incidents of missing or unac-
counted for weapons-grade nuclear materials.
In view of increasing terrorist activities
throughout the world, the ability to respond
and investigate such incidents should be of
concern to national security and the public
health and safety.
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~TIONS TO THE

HEADS OF AGEWCIES

GAO recommends that the heads of DOE, NRC,
the Department of Justice, and the CIA, as
part of their responsibilities for the na-
tional security of the country, establish

a plan for coordinated interagency action
which focuses on a nuclear safeguards

system that adequately, detects, investigates,
and reports to the Congress and the President
on thefts or diversions of nuclear materials.
The plan- which should be submitted to the
Congress within 90 days or less of the issu-
ance of this report, should include

—~a‘formal means for a timely determination
or whether a loss has occurred; ..

~-a clear 'and direct channel of communica-
tions between the agencies;

--a formal means for rapidly focusing the
abilities of these agencies on the resolu-
tion of a diversion incident; and

--a means for allowing any incident involving
the theft or diversion of nuclear material
to be definitely resolved to tre satisfac-
tion of the Congress and the President.

GAO also recommends that the Attcrney
General, working with the FBI, take the lead
in establishing the interagency plan since
the FBI, under the Atomic Energy Act of 1954,
is responsible for investigating incidents
involving the diversion or theft of nuclear
materials.

RECOMMENDATION TO THE CONGRESS

The committees of Congress having jurisdic-
tion for domestic nuclear safeguards should

--review the nuclear safeguards plan to be
submitted by the Executive Branch to assure
that an adequate system is developed which
deters and investigates thefts or diver-
sions of nuclear materials
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ana DOE's Office of

Inspector Gz complete their investi-
gations of the EC incident as soon as

Dossible and submit their reports to the

committeec.

--recuest that the

These reports should be reviewed to determine
the adequacy of the investigations and their
implications for developing a more effective
future system.

Even with complete information on all Govern-
ment investigations, given the passage of
time, it'may be difficult to conclusively
determine what specifically happened at NUMEC.
GAO believes the important thing is to use

the lessons learned from the NUMEC experience
to gake certain that the Nation develops an
adefuate detection and follow~up system to
deter future nuclear thefts or diversions.

AGENCY COMMENTS

DOE's comments on the report are contained

in a letter dated July 25, 1978. (See ap-
pendix II). DOE agreed with the thrust of
the report. However, it disagreed with our
recommendation concerning the need to enter
into a formal interagency agreement with NRC,
the FBI, and the CIA for more timely and ef-
fective action in investigating incidents of
suspected or real diversions of nuclear ma-
terial. DOE stated in its letter that a
comprehensive plan and a memorandum of under-
standing with the FBI already existed for
joint responses to nuclear threat situations.
Further, DOE stated that it had open channels
of communication to other agencies, including
the CIA, for the exchange of information
pertinent to nuclear threat situations.

These factors were known to GAO and are com-
mendable. The current memorandum of under-
standing between DOE and the FBI is the be-
ginning of an effective response plan to
incidents of nuclear diversion, but is in-
adequate since it does not include CIA par-
ticipation and cooperation. Without a for-
mal interagency agreement placing positive
reporting and investigative responsibilities
on DOE, NRC, the FBI, and the CIA along the
lines recommended by GAO, we believe the
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The comments raceived from the CIA are con-
2ined In a letter dated September 1, 1978.
(See apvendix III,) The letter takes no
issue with the facts or recommendations - in-
cluded in the report. It does, however,
point out some concerns about certain in-
formation in the report.

GAOQ believes that the concerns expressed by
the CIA have been adequately addressed in
the text. of the report. ‘However, we did not
specifically address the CIA's concerns re-
garding its degree of cooperation with DOE
and the FBI on the alleged NUMEC incident.
In its letter the CIA disagreed with the
staktement in the report indicating, that

they failed to cooperate with DOE and the
FBI. The CIA bases the disagreement on the
fact that its officials briefed a large num-
ber of officials in the executive and legig-
lative branches of Government on the NUMEC
matter in 1976 and 1977.

GAO was aware that such briefings were pro-
vided. However, GAO believes that since the
briefings were provided 4 to 6 years after
some of the key information was developed
their utility in helping to resolve the
NUMEC matter was greatly diminished. Fur-
ther, according to two former CIA officials
familiar with the case, documents were
prepared within the CIA linking the unac-
counted for NUMEC material to Israel. This
information was not passed on to DOE or the
FBI according to the officials we contacted
in those agencies. ~However, we believe it
must be pointed out that the current CIA
officials GAO interviewed said that such
documents were not known to exist within
the CIA.

The Department of Justice and the FBI did
not furnish formal written comments. GAO
provided them more than 3 months to do so,
a time period longer than that provided

DOE, the CIA, and NRC. While GAO did not
have the benefit of official written com-
ments from the Department of Justice and
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%ﬁg FBI in pr he Tinal report, GaO
dla consider the vi Sndé connents of the
?Bl‘état:»familiar with the alleged NUMEC
incident during the course of tre review,

NRC had no comment on the content of the
report. ‘However, NRC did state that the
recommendations to the Heads of Agencies
appears reasonable. (See appendix IV.)
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dia consider the v onG conments of the
FBI staff familiar with the alleged NUMEC
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NRC had no comment on the content of the
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recommendations to the Heads of Agencies
appears reasonable., (See appendix IV.)
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CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

In 1965 the Department of Energy (DOE) 1/ found during
an inspection that about 206 pounds of uranium-235 could not
be accounted for at the Nuclear Materials and Equipment Cor=-
poration (NUMEC), a nuclear facility located in Apollo, Penn-
sylvania. DOE estimated that this much uranium could make at
least four or five nuclear weapons. Although investigations
were conducted, the uranium was never accounted for.

The Federal Government has generally remained silent
about the incident. 1Information that has become known over
the years has been vague and inconsistent. With the current
high interest in assuring adeguate safeguards over nuclear
materials, speculation about the incident has surfaced again.
Many allegations concerning the unaccounted for material and
the NUMEQ, facility have been made in newspaper and magazine
articles and at congressional hearings. “These allegations
include:

--The material was illegally diverted to Israel by NUMEC
management for use in nuclear weapons.

-~The material was diverted to Israel by NUMEC management
with the assistance of the Central Intelligence Agency
(CIA).

--The material was diverted to Israel with the acquies-
cence of the United States Government.

-;There has been a cover-up of the NUMEC incident by
the United States Government.

1/The Atomic Energy Commission (AEC) was formerly responsible

~ for both regulating and promoting all nuclear activities in
the United States. On January 19, 1975, it was split into
the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) and the Energy Re-
search and Development Administration (ERDA). NRC became
responsible for nuclear regulation and ERDA became respon-
sible for nuclear development and promotion. Under Public
Law 95-91, ERDA's functions were placed in the Department
of Energy effective October 1, 1977. NRC remained intact.
Throughout the report, DOE is used to refer to the Depart-
ment of Energy, ERDA, and AEC.
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CIA officials provided us with their views on the first
allegation and stated that thev had no information to sub-
;tan;iate any of the otherz. Basad on the totality of our
inquiry, we believe that the allegations have not been fully
or adequately answered.

Overall the nuclear safeguards systems in this country
bavg been greatly improved as a result of the alleged NUMEC
incident. Since the alleged incident occurred AEC and its
Succeeding agencies have placed much greater levels of con-
trol reguirements on private nuclear facilities like NUMEC.
Therg are many new requirements which include such measures
as bimonthly inventory accounting, armed guards to protect
upauthorized access to nuclear material and alarm systems de-
signed to detect unauthorized movement of nuclear material.
Nevertheless, two reports GAO recently issued 1/ cited major
deficiencies in our domestic nuclear safeguards systems.
These reports point out that there are thousands of pounds of
wegponsTgrﬁde material unaccounted for in this country today.
This being’the case, it is critical that the Government be
prepared to quickly and effectively respond to allegations of
loss of nuclear material to determine whether, when, where,
and how it occurred.

The unresolved NUMEC incident raises questions on the
u.s. capability to deal with unaccounted for nuclear mate-
rials. This report discusses, within the constraints of the
data available to.us, the scope and effectiveness of U.S.
efforts to locate the unaccounted for uranium, and the impli-
cations the incident has for our current nuclear safeguards
programs.

This report addresses two basic questions arising from
the NUMEC incident..

--What information has been developed about the alleged
NUMEC diversion?

--Were the investigations by the Federal Government into
the alleged incident adequate?

With the amount of nuclear materials in this country in-
creasing rapidly, the opportunities for diversion without

1/EMD-76-3, "Shortcomings in the Systems Used to Protect and
Control Highly Dangerous Nuclear Materials," dated July 22,
1976, and EMD-77-40, “"Commercial Nuclear Fuel Facilities
Need Better Security," dated May 2, 1977.
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cations thé incident has for our current nuclear safeguards

programs.

This report addresses two basic guestions arising from
the NUMEC incident..

--What information has been developed about the alleged
NUMEC diversion?

--Were the investigations by the Federal Government into
the alleged incident adequate?

With the amount of nuclear materials in this country in-
creasing rapidly, the opportunities for diversion without

1/EMD-76-3, "Shortcomings in the Systems Used to Protect and
Control Highly Dangerous Nuclear Materials," dated July 22,
1976, and EMD-77-40, "Commercial Nuclear Fuel Facilities
Need Better Security," dated May 2, 1977.
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TnY¥=se. Consequently, answers

adequate safsquards can also
to these cuccstions = important in orcder to insure that cur-
rent Federal capabilities exist to resrond to real or suspected

incidents of nuclear material diversion.

AGENCIES INVOLVED IK
INVESTIGATING 1/ NUMEC

Originaily, there were three agencies involved in gath-
ering information on the incident. These were DOE, the Fed-
eral Bureau of Investigation (FBI), and the CIA. However,

DOE and the FBI have begun new investigations of the incident.
In February 1978 DOE began an investigation to determine what
officials in the agency knew about the alleged diversion inci-
dent. In April of 1976, at the oral reguest of President Ford,
the FBI opened an investigation of the NUMEC incident aimed at
determining whether a diversion of nuclear material ever oc-
curred at the facility. Both of these later investigations

are still dngoing and we have not reviewed,.these reports.

There are also other Federal bodies that have developed
a substantial amount of information on the incident. These
are the former Joint Committee on Atomic Energy (JCAE), NRC
and GAO. A staff member of the former JCAE compiled a lengthy
record of the events and-incidents surrounding the alleged
diversion and wrote a report which was inconclusive about
whether a diversion ever occurred at the NUMEC. facility. The
report was written in about 1967 or 1968. NRC issued a report
on certain aspects of the NUMEC incident in March 1978. The
NRC report, however, did not focus on the diversion guestion.
It was aimed at what specific NRC officials knew about the al-
leged diversion incident. GAQ issued a report to the former
JCAE in June 1967 which focused primarily on NUMEC's account-
ability controls over nuclear material. In that report GAO
said it found no evidence of diversion and after considering
information available had no reason to question AEC's con-
clusion that while it could not be stated with certainty that
diversion didn't take place, the survey team found no evidence
to support the possibility.

GAO's current report focuses on the allegations and infor-
mation developed since that time in attempting to answer the

1/CIA officials informed GAO that they have no authority to
conduct “investigations" of unaccounted for nuclear mate-
rials in the United States. -As used in this report the
term "investigation(s)" is used in the context of the en-
tire Federal effort to resolve the incident.
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cuestions of what information has been developed about the
alleaed diversion, and were the investigations done by the
Federal Governmant adecuate. '

ACCESS_TO RECORDE DIFFICULTIES

During our review, we were denied documents pertinent
to the NUMEC incident by the FBI and the CIA. We repeatedly
tried to obtain documents from these groups, but with no
success. A written chronology of contacts with other Federal
agencies was provided by the CIA, however, the CIA denied GAO
access to any source documents on the case. According to
Agency officials, this was a decision made by the Director of
the CIa

The
CIA did subsequently allow selected staff of Chairman Dingell's
Subcommittee to review some CIA documents at CIA Headguarters.
Access to these or any other CIA documents was not extended to
include &a0. Further, the CIA did not cpoperate with GAO in
arranging some interviews with knowledgeable current and former
CIA officials. This was significant since former CIA officials,
although not required, can be expected to inform CIA before
discussing their former activities with others. The FBI's
rationale for denying GAO access to their documents was that
the Bureau did not want to jeopardize its ongoing investiga-
tion of the alleged diversion incident.

These constraints made it impossible to obtain corrobor-
ating evidence for some of the report's contents. Nonetheless,
we made every attempt to do so and, where it was not possible,
we have so noted it in the report.
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CiiPTER 2

WHAT INFO::ATION HAS BEEN DEVELOPED

ABOUT THE ALLEGED NUMEC DIVERSION? 1

Until the summer of 1977, the only publicized Government
view on the NUMEC incident was that there was no evidence to
indicate that a diversion of nuclear material had occurred.
ngever, in congressional hearings before the House Subcom-
mittee on Energy and Environment and the House Subcommittee
on Energy and Power in July and August 1977, respectively,
it was revealed that the CIA might possess information which
did not support this conclusion and, in fact, that a totally
opposite position could be taken.

We attempted to obtain all the information developed by
the Government on this matter. We reviewed documents, reports,
and studies made available to us. We also interviewed those
individuals most involved with the incident and the subsequent
investigations of it.

Based on our work, we cannot say whether or not there
was a diversion of material from the NUMEC facility. Fol-
lowing is the information and views which we obtained from
the three principal agencies involved in the alleged incident
--DOE, FBI, and CIA.

DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY'S INVOLVEMENT
WITH NUMEC INCIDENT

DOE records show that in December 1957, the NUMEC facil-
ity located in Apollo, Pennsylvania was licensed to possess
enriched uranium for manufacturing nuclear fuel, recovering
scrap, and conducting nuclear research and development. NUMEC
obtained various forms of enriched uranium and other nuclear
material from the United States Government and commercial
sources. During the period 1957 through 1967, NUMEC received
over 22 tons of uranium-235~-the material used in the fabri-

cation of nuclear weapons.

Until 1975 DOE was responsible for insuring that licensed
commercial nuclear facilities such as NUMEC provided adeguate
safequards and material control. DOE'sS records show that un-
til June 1967 the policy for safeguarding nuclear materials
relied primarily on the monetary value of the material. DOE
believed that the financial penalties imposed upon licensees
for the loss of or damage to nuclear material, and the crimi-
nal penalties provided by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, would |
be sufficient to motivate licensees to adequately protect the |
material from loss, theft, or diversion. Material

5

Seeweg

C01l1l62251

CH4#PTER 2

WHAT INFOrIATIOK HAS BEEN DEVELOPED

ABOUT THE ALLEGED NUMEC DIVERSION?

Until the summer of 1977, the only publicized Government
view on the NUMEC incident was that there was no evidence to
indicate that a diversion of nuclear material had occurred

We attempted to obtain all the information developed by
the Government on this matter. We reviewed documents, reports,
and studies made available to us. We also interviewed those
individuals most involved with the incident and the subsequent
investigations of it.

Based on our work, we cannot say whether or not there
was a diversion of material from the NUMEC facility. Fol-
lowing is the information and views which we obtained from
the three principal agencies involved in the alleged .incident
--DOE, FBI, and CIA.

DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY'S INVOLVEMENT
WITH NUMEC INCIDENT

DOE records show that in December 1957, the NUMEC facil-
ity located in Apollo, Pennsylvania was licensed to possess
enriched uranium for manufacturing nuclear fuel, recovering
scrap, and conducting nuclear research and development. NUMEC
obtained various forms of enriched uranium and other nuclear
material from the United States Government and commercial
sources. During the period 1957 through 1967, NUMEC received
over 22 tons of uranium-235--the material used in the fabri-

cation of nuclear weapons.

Until 1975 DOE was responsible for insuring that licensed
commercial nuclear facilities such as NUMEC provided adequate
safequards and material control. DOE's records show that un-
til June 1967 the policy for safeguarding nuclear materials
relied primarily on the monetary value of the material. DOE
believed that the financial penalties imposed upon licensees
for the loss of or damage to nuclear material, and the crimi-
nal penalties provided by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, would
be sufficient to motivate licensees to adequately protect the
material from loss, theft, or diversion. Material




€01162251

accountability requirements, wnile written into licensee
contracts and the Code of Fedsral keculations, were more di-
rected to health and safety ccncerns than in protecting nu-
clear material from theft or diversion. Our review of DOE
records showed that at the time (1) there were no limits
placed on the amount of unaccounted for nuclear materials,
(2) facilities were required to inventory their nuclear mate-
rials only once a year, and (3) estimating inventories was a
widespread practice at all nuclear facilities at that time.
The elaborate material control and physical security measures
in place at commercial nuclear facilities today were developed
since 1967. Such measures were not present before then.

DOE officials told us that in the mid-1960s material ac-
countability capabilities and methods were just being devel-
oped. As a result, uncertainty existed on the part of both
the agency and the industry about nuclear material control
standards and criteria. DOE officials and NUMEC's president
told us nhat the situation at NUMEC was further complicated
by the fakt that NUMEC was involved in m#4ny unique first-of-
a-kind nuclear ‘projects.

DOE, pursuant to it$ regulatory responsibilities, con-
ducted six accountability inspections at NUMEC--prior to the
alleged 1965 incident--to assure that nuclear materials were
being adeguately protected. Each inspection revealed major
deficiencies. '

In April 1961 DOE conducted its first material control
inspection and found “"significant" deficiencies in the mate-
rial accounting systems. ‘During its second inspection in
May 1962, DOE found that, although NUMEC had corrected some
accounting deficiencies, it still did not follow practices
necessary for the maintenance of adeguate material control.
During this inspection, the agency discovered that NUMEC was
mixing nuclear material among various contracts--a practice
that was expressly prohibited. BAccording to DOE inspectors,
such commingling made it difficult, if not impossible, to
trace discrete batches of material through the plant and to
determine how the material was being used.

DOE's next inspection in July and August of 1963 did
not show much improvement, and revealed additional problems
with the material accounting systems. In early 1964 another
inspection was undertaken and more inadequacies were identi-
fied. DOE's records show that at this point, the agency be-
came so concerned with the inadeguate controls at the facil-
ity that it began considering whether to prevent NUMEC from
receiving any additional nuclear materials. Later, in Sep-
tember of 1964, DOE attempted to take a physical inventory
of the material held by NUMEC but could not do so since, in
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the opinion of DOE investigators, NUMEC'S records wére so
poor that thev were unzuditable. &s 2 reasult, the inventory
check was canceled.

In April of 1965, DOZ began another inspection and, for
the sixth consecutive time, found fundamental problems wlth
NUMEC's ability to control material. The inspection report
concluded that "safeguards control of [nuclear material] at
NUMEC is inadequate." Tt was éuring this inspection that a
large amount of highly enriched uranium was unaccounted for.
The loss, initially identified as 53 kilograms (117 pounds)
was later adjusted to 61 kilograms (134 pounds). This was
about 2 to 3 times higher than was experienced by other simi-
lar facilities operating at that time.

Although DOE had made financial arrangements with NUMEC
to insure payment for the loss, the highly 51gn1f1cant safe~
guards 1Q:llcat10ns of the loss sparked a lengthy investiga-
tlon.‘ investigation which began in early November 1965
was aimed at (1) determining the exact total cumulative loss
of highly enriched uranium at NUMEC since its startup in 1957
and (2) explaining the 134 pound loss under its most recent
contract involving 93 percent enriched--weapons-grade--uranium.

The investigation lasted until mid-November 1965 and
revealed a cumulative loss of 178 kilograms (392 pounds) of
material. DOE was able to trace 186 pounds to waste and gas
filters leading from the plant, but the remaining 206 pounds
could not be accounted for.

The November 1965 investigation did not provide DOE with
a conclusive answer as to what happened to the unaccounted
for material. However, according to agency officials, enough
information existed to develop a "theory"” on the probable
cause of the missing material. The "theory" developed by the
DOE staff and accepted by top DOE officials was that through
April 1965 NUMEC consistently underestimated its material
losses from contract to contract. As each job was completed
and NUMEC had to pay DOE for the actual losses sustained,
the differences between the estimated and actual losses were
passed on from completed jobs to new jobs. The theory con-
cluded that these actions continued over the 8 years of the
company's operations until April 1965 when, strictly by chance,
only one contract was being processed at the facility, and it
was possible for DCE to isolate the total cumulative material
unaccounted for.

DOE documents showed that because of the poor condition
of NUMEC's material accounting records, it was not possible
to establish when the losses occurred or even whether the
material was used to offset losses on previously completed
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contracts. NUMEC's president ccrntended that the nuclear
material was not stolen or diverted buz unavoidadly "lost" in
the processing system itself through adnerance to the equip-
ment and piping and amounts discarded as waste. Consequently,
the DOE investigators concluded that DOE could not say, une-
quivocally, that the material was not stolen or diverted from
the facility.

We learned from a discussion with a former DOE official,
that in Februvary 1966, DOE asked the FBI to determine whether
a theft or diversion of the material had occurred. The DOE
files contain a memorandum of discussion with the FBI. The
memorandum stated that " * * * the Bureau had decided not to
undertake an investigation at this time * * *" eyen though
they were required to investigate such incidents under the
Atomic Energy Act of 1954. Conseguently, DOE continued its
own. After examining the facility records, cleaning out proc-
essing equipment, searching some of the company's nuclear
waste buriyl ground, and interviewing many, key NUMEC employees,
DOE was still unable to conclusively determine what happened
to the material.

In 1966 NUMEC paid DOE $1.1 million for the missing 206
pounds of enriched uranium as required by NUMEC's contract,
and the DOE investigation of the incident was, for all prac-
tical purposes, closed unresolved. The $1.1 million was paid
partly from a $2,500,000 revolving credit note account that
NUMEC arranged with the Mellon Bank. The balance was paid
through the return to DOE of some nuclear material for which
NUMEC was credited. Atlantic Richfield Corporation later
purchased the facility in April 1967 and it is now owned. by
the Babcock and Wilcox Corporation who bought the facility
in 1972.

Other information relevant
to the NUMEC incident

We identified several occurrences from our review of DOE
files and interviews with DOE officials, which impact on the
NUMEC incident. We learned that:

~-After the November 1965 investigation, NUMEC management
hired one of DOE's on-site investigators who was an ex-
pert in material control and accountability. The in-
vestigator had responsibility for conducting a major
part of the material control review at the facility.

--During a period of rising concern with unaccounted for

material at NUMEC, some material accounting records
were reported to DOE as being inadvertently destroyed
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during a labor dispute at the facility in Januarz-
February 1964. Accordina to a former head cf DOI's
nuclear material management group, and investigators

frqm_the FBI, the records might have affected DOE's
ability to trace the material held by the facility.

--NUMEC mixed material among various contracts--a prac-
tice that was explicitly prohibited by DOE. According
to DOE investigators, this practice made it very dif-
ficult, if not impossible, to track the material
through the facility.

Further, DOE was concerned with the foreign interests
and contacts maintained by NUMEC's president. DOE's records
show that, while president, this individual had various high-
level contacts with officials of the Government of Israel,
both in that country and in the United States. The records
also show Yhat, for a time, he acted as a.sales agent in the
United States for the Defense Ministry of Israel. Also, while
president of NUMEC, he had a 50-percent interest in a nuclear
facility in Israel established for the purpose of radiation
exper imentation on various perishable commodities.

Several current and former officials we interviewed at
DOE and the FBI, and a former CIA official told us that, in
view of the poor nuclear material control at NUMEC and the
general sloppiness of the operation, NUMEC management could
have diverted material from the facility, if they wanted to.
A principal field investigator for DOE at the time, told us
that the sloppiness of NUMEC operations made it very conducive
to a diversion. This investigator noted that on a visit to
the facility in 1963 or 1964 he saw nuclear material deposited
in the crevices of the stairwells and on the floor. However,
of all DOE officials we interviewed, including a former Chair-
man and two former members of the Atomic Energy Commission,
only one, a former DOE security expert, actually believed that
a diversion of material occurred. According to this individ-
ual, who was not familiar with the material accounting prac-
tices established by DOE, his conclusion was based on inspec-
tions he conducted at NUMEC. He told us he visited NUMEC sev-
eral times between 1962 and 1967 to conduct physical security
inspections for DOE. He said that in an inspection report
dated February 10 and 11, 1966, he noted that a large ship-
ment of highly enriched uranium was made to France roughly
equivalent to the material identified as missing in DOE's
November 1965 inspection--100 kilograms. According to him,
the circumstances at the facility were such that it would
have been relatively easy to ship highly enriched (weapons-
grade) uranium to another country instead of low enriched ura-
nium since the enriched uranium storage system at NUMEC did
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not clearly distinguish between weapons-grade and nonwéapons—
grade material.

Current DOE officials informed us, however, that while
the United States did not make independent verification of the
shipments being dispatched to a foreign country, at the time
of the NUMEC incident, it did conduct safeguards inspections
as provided in bilateral agreements for cooperation with vari-
ous countries. According to DOE, inspections in this partic-
ular foreign country were conducted to account for enriched
uranium shipped from the United States. DOE officials told
us that two of these inspections were conducted which identi-
fied material in the form, enrichment level, and approximate
quantity shown in the U.S. (NUMEC) transfer documents.

The former DOE security inspector also said that the
entire security program at NUMEC was very bad and that, to a
large extent, contributed to his concern that the missing
material a§ NUMEC had been diverted. Two other former secu-
rity officials at DOE concurred in this latter point. These
three individuals agreed that, based on their knowledge and
experience with the NUMEC facility, it was very possible that
the material unaccounted for from NUMEC could have been di-
verted. One of these security officials told us that NUMEC's
security program was widely "disrespected" among the DOE
investigative staff. However, none of these individuals were
able to provide us with any direct evidence that would support
the view that a diversion of material had occurred. Further,
DOE records show that of the 37 NUMEC employees interviewed
by DOE in 1966, none believed that a diversion of nuclear mate-
rial had occurred.

In 1975 NRC was made responsible for the regulatory over-
sight of commercial nuclear facilities like NUMEC, and conse-
quently has become involved in the incident. 1In a February
1978 report related to the NUMEC incident, NRC concluded that
their previous official position of "no evidence" to support
a diversion may need to be reconsidered, in light of the many
uncertainties surrounding the incident. ‘Included in that
report is a letter from the Chairman, NRC o the Chairman of
the Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, concluding
that "* * * for regulatocry purposes we must assume the circum-
stances {surroundihg NUMEC] were such that a diversion could
have occurred, and we must construct our safequards require-
ments accordingly."”

FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION'S
INVOLVEMENT WITH NUMEC INCIDENT

The FBI is responsible for gathering domestic intelli-
gence on activities affecting the national security of the
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United States. It is also responsible for investigating all
alleged or suspvectec¢ criminal violations of the Atomic Energv
Act of 1954 including the theft or diversion of nuclear ma-
terial. 1In this role the Bureau has initiated three investi-
gations involving NUMEC with one still ongoing.

Our efforts to obtain and evaluate the information col-
lected by the FBI on the NUMEC matter were repeatedly denied
by the Department of Justice. The Department of Justice told
us that since their latest investigation was still underway
they could not give us any documentation related to the NUMEC
incident. The denial included information developed as part
of Justice's prior two investigations. This position was for-
mally communicated to the Comptroller General of the United
States from the Attorney General in a letter dated February 8,
1978. (See Appendix V for a copy of this letter.)

The FBI did, however, brief us twice and responded to
several follow-up inguiries. We also coniacted 12 former and
current officials of the Department of Justice and the Bureau
including the current Attorney General and two former Attorneys
General. (Appendix I contains a summary of the individuals we
contacted during our review.)

Our first briefing by the FBI was provided by the agent-
in-charge and two other FBI representatives on October 6, 1977.
The briefing covered all FBI investigations related to NUMEC.
We received a follow-up briefing on December 14, 1977, in order
to clarify some of the information we had obtained earlier.
This briefing was provided by a new FBI agent-in-charge since
the former one was transferred off the case shortly after our

October 1977 briefing.

We were informed at these briefings that in June of 1965,
the FBI was asked by DOE to investigate the possibility that
NUMEC's president might need to register his activities in
the United States under the Foreign Agent Registration Act.
DOE's specific concern stemmed from the individual's associa-
tions with Israeli officials. According to information we
received at the October 1977 briefing, NUMEC's president's
capacity as sales agent for the Ministry of Defense of Israel
was of particular concern to DOE.

At the October 1977 briefing, we were told that the FBI
began the investigation in August of 1965. 1In October of 1966,
after 14 months of effort, it reported that NUMEC's president
did not have to register as a foreign agert since NUMEC's ac-
tivities with Israel were conducted under applicable U.S. laws
and regulations. Further, according to the Department of Jus-—
tice, the business activities established between Israel and
NUMEC were all found to be legitimate.
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In a letter to the Director of the FRI dated February 17,
1966, DOEL asked the Burezu to investigate the suspected di-
version of nuclezr materisl from the NUMEC plant. FBI re-
sponded on February 25, 1966, stating that it "decided not
to undertake this investigation at this time." According to
the former FBI agent in charge of the current investigation,
the reason for the decision was that in DOE's discussions with
the Bureau, DOE presented a convincing case that there was no
diversion at the facility. However, we were informed by a for-
mer Executive Director of the Joint Commi:tee on Atomic Energy,
that the reason the Bureau did not want to get involved was
twofold: (1) the Bureau did not think that a diversion oc-
curred based on the presentation provided by DOE, and (2) it
simply did not like conducting investigations involving unac-
counted for nuclear materials.

We were informed at the October 1977 briefing that the
FBI's next Involvement in the NUMEC matter occurred as a re-
sult of amyApril 1968 letter from the Director of CIA to the
Attornev General. The FBI was asked to "initiate a discreet
intellicence ‘investigation of the relationship of NUMEC's

president with the Government of Israel." | AJ

The former FBI agent in charge of the investigation told
us that in September 1969, the FBI Director advised the CIA
Director that surveillance of NUMEC's president had been ter-
minated because, the FBI did not believe further investigation
would develop any new information. The Associate Deputy Di-
rector for Operations at the CIA told us the CIA was not sat-
isfied with the FBI's termination of the case and requested
the Bureau to reinstitute its surveillance in a letter to the
Director of the FBI dated October 13, 1969. However, accord-
ing to this CIA official, no formal request was ever made to
the Attorney General and no investigation was initiated as far
as he could determine. The former FBI agent in charge of the
investigation said he was unable to corroborate this informa-
tion., CIA officials advised us that they have file copies of
correspondence to the FBI which support its position that re-
quests were made to the FBI to continue a counterintelligence .
investigation of NUMEC's president. We, however, did not see |
this correspondence..

The CIA provided us with a chronology of their contacts
with the FBI. It indicated that in September 1970 the CIA
again asked the FBI to reinstitute the investigation based on
information that NUMEC's president was planning to

But, again, the CIA official said no further work was

undertaken bv the FBI.
12
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At the two FBI bricfinds, ‘were provided
information the FBI had develope¢ on the bac associa-
tions, and business activities of WUHEC's president with Israe-
1i government officials, agents, and citizens. According to
the FBI aacents giving the briefings, the information developed,
while circumstantial in-nature, raised serious questions con-
cerning the national security risks posed oy NUMEC's president.

In reviewing DOE files, we found that during the FBI's
surveillance activities, the FBI became so concerned about
the security risks pocsed by NUMEC's president that they asked
DOE whether it planned to terminate his security clearance or
stop the flcw of nuclear materials to NUMEC. According to
the FBI's liaison with GAO, the FBI recommended that NUMEC's
operating license be taken away.

DOE files also show that in early 1969 the FBI briefed-
President Nixon on the questionable activifties of NUMEC's
president. ¥The files further show that ton level ‘Government
concern about the security risks posed by the president of
NUMEC continued until 1971, We were told by a former Deputy
Director of Security at DOE that in 1971 a former Commissioner
of AEC aided the NUMEC official in obtaining employment with
Westinghouse Electric Corporation, where he would have no need
for access to national security information. The former Depu-
ty Director of Security said he helped the former Commissioner
in obtaining such employment for NUMEC's president. The for-
mer Commissioner declined to comment to us on this matter. We
believe this is particularly important since we were informed
by the president of NUMEC that he may attempt to obtain employ-
ment in an area which will involve a top secret clearance. If
this should occur, the question of his obtaining a security
clearance may surface again.

In the FBI briefing on December 14, 1977, we were told
by the current FBI agent in charge of the investigation, that
no additional surveillance activities or irvestigations of
any kind were undertaken by the FBI concerr.ing NUMEC from
September 1969 until April of 1976, when ordered to do so by
President Ford. A Department of Justice staff attorney as-~
signed to the case later confirmed this. He told us that the
FBI's current investigation was the direct result of a request
to the then Attorney General by President Ford in April 1976.
According to the Justice staff attorney it was at that time
President Ford asked the FBI to investigate the possibility
that weapons—grade materials might have been diverted from
the NUMEC facility to Israel. GAO was not furnished any
documents regarding President Ford's request and thus could
not specifically determine its nature and scope.
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[}§¥1£i£LL¥2§;} We wers told bv both the former andg current FBI .acentg ;
involved i n2 investligation that, durina all the FBI's in- i z told bv both the former and current FBI .aagents
vestigatio into NUMEC, it did not obtain any information involved in th2 investigation that, durina all the FBI'c in-
conclusive showing that a diversion of nuclear material vestigationsz into NUMEC, it did not obtain any informetion
occurred at NUMEC. conclusively showing that a diversion of nuclear material
occurred at WUMEC.
As part of its recent investigation, the former agent-in- {7

charge told us the FBI questioned the CIA regarding information
it might have develcped on the alleged diversion. According
to this agent, the CIA initially told the FBI they possessed
information linking the unaccounted for NUMEC material to
Israel. The CIA later, however, informed the FBI that they
did not have such information. The CIA representatives told
the FBI that they knew no more than the FBI did about the
matter. The CIA officials having current access to the files
have advised us that a search of the available data reveals a
"semantic" problem concerning the use of the term "evidence."
In short, CIA states there is no “hard evidence” of a diver-
sion from &CUMEC to Israel,

§ [ without access to the records showing
the exact nature of the information exchanged between these
two agencies, we were unable to determine what information ex-
change did occur. However, two former officials of the CIA, a
former Deputyv Director of Science and Technology--who was one
of the five highest ranking officials in the CIA and who re-
portec directly to the Director of the CIA on this matter
--and another source, who asked not to be identified, told us
that the CIA had prepared several internal analyses discussing
this particular incident. |

The current FBI agent in charge of the investigation, who was
never briefed by the CIA, told us that he was unaware of this
information.

A newspaper articls on January 28, 1978, appeared to fur-
ther support the existence of such information. The article
identified the existence of a special intelligence report pre-
pared by the CIA in 1974. The newspaper article noted that
the CIA had mistakenly released the "top-secret" report. One
of the conclusions of the report was that Israel had developed
nuclear weapons and that the source of the nuclear material
for the weapons was obtained partially through "clandestine
means."” The CIA never denied the validity of the newspaper
article. Subseguently, we obtained a copy of the report.
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officials we contacted told us that they did inform the FBI

of this information in a May 1977 meeting on the subject.

The previous FBI investigator in charge of the investigation
attended the May 1977 meeting.  The current one did not. The
CIA officials we interviewed believed that the May 1977 brief-
ing constituted formal advice to the FBI on what was known by
the CIA about the situation concerning Israeli's acquisition
of a nuclear weapons capability. .

The FBI is currently preparing a report on its most re-
cent investigation. FBI agents involved in the current inves-
tigation told us that while there exists circumstantial infor-
mation which could lead an individual to conclude that a
diversion had occurred, there is no substantive proof of a
diversion. The report was submitted to the Attorney General
on February 16, 1978. However, a staff lawyer in the Internal
Security Section at the Department of Justice, informed us on
May 25, 1978, that there were still several items the FBI had
to cover in its report before the Justice Department would
accept it. Currently, the FBI is still investigating the
alleged NUMEC incident.

CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE AGENCY'S
INVOLVEMENT WITH NUMEC INCIDENT

On August 29, 1977, we met with the CIA for a briefing
on their knowledge of and involvement in the alleged NUMEC
incident. Subsequently, we had several follow-up discussions
with CIA representatives on the matter. We contacted 11 former
and current CIA employees. However, as we got further into
our review, the CIA blocked our efforts to continue. While
the CIA did provide selected staff members of Chairman Dingell's
House Subcommittee on Energy and Power with the opportunity to
review at CIA Headquarters some documentation on their knowledge
of the NUMEC incident, CIA officials refused to provide us
with access to any source documents on their intelligence ac-
tivities surrounding the Israeli/NUMEC matter. Furthermore,
the CIA did not cooperate with us in arranging interviews with
knowledgeable current and former officials. |

[ Withheld under statutory authority of the
Central Intelligence Agency Act of 1949 (50
U.S.C., section 403g)
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At the August 1977 briefing,|

|briefing. Additionally, we later pro-
vided the CIA with a memorandum 'on the information presented
to us at the -briefing to assure that our interpretation of
the information was accurate. The CIA official who reviewed
the memorandum suggested certain changes tut did not comment
on the accuracy of GAO's stated position regarding the alleged
diversion incident which identified the NUMEC facility as the
"most likely" source of Israel's nuclear weapons material.

A former high ranking CIA official at the briefing
provided us with the following additional information on the
incident. He cited these items as further support for his
belief about the Israel/NUMEC connection.

--The ease with which nuclear materials could have been
taken from the NUMEC facility.
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[§§4<L4541§§Jij The CIA also told us much of the same information tr

the FBI had provided us. 1In an interview with a CIA officizl
on September 12, 1977, we wers
information developed on the matter was so strong that everv-
one in the intelligence community concurred with the CIA's
opinions, except one--DOE. However, like the FBI, the CIZ
emphasized that thev had no conclusive evidence tracing the
unaccounted for nuclear material from NUMEC to Israel.

One former official stated that the CIA was so confi-
dent in the NUMEC information that a former Director briefed
President Lyndon Johnson on the incident in 1968 or 1969.
The former CIA Director later told us he could not recall
such a briefing. ’

We were told by a CIA official on September 12, 1977,
that at least one intelligence estimate was prepared by CIA
staff on this incident. However, in commenting on this re-
port CIA officials advised us that the currently available
files do not contain an estimate on the NUMEC incident and
it is their belief that this official was referring to an
overall intelligence estimate on nuclear proliferation. We
were also told by the former CIA Deputy Director of Science
and Technology on October 18, 1977, and another source for-
merly employed by the CIA on January 28, 1978, that a series
of papers were written |

On January 16, 1978, we asked the former CIA Director
involved in the matter about these papers and he told us that
he could not recall any such documents. However, he gualified
this statement by indicating that he did not intend to say
that the documents do not exist.

In a meeting with several CIA represantatives on
November 17, 1977, the CIA appeared to change its views about
the alleged diversicn. [~

We asked the |

CIA to explain its apparent change in views concerning NUMEC.
Specifically, we asked them to state, in writ:ng, the CIA's
official position on the alleged diversion. Their last sub-
mission to us was their formal comments on this report, which
still did not adeqguately address this point.

In several meetings with CIA officials who have current
access to the files, it was explained to us that a search of

[ 25X1, E.0.13526
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the available data reveals a "“semantic" prcblem concerninc
the use of the term “"evidence." 1In short, CIA stated there
is no "hard evidence" of a diversion from NUMEC to Israel.

We were unable to determine whether the CIA changed its
opinion about any NUMEC/Israel link or whether the CIA inad-
vertently failed to comment on the inaccuracy of the "most
likely" position conveyed to us in the August 1977 briefing.
Further, we askeq for any reports the CIA might have prepared
on the matter. We have never received any. A January 28,
1978, newspaper article, however, alleged the existence of
at least one such report.

Moreover, in November 1977 the CIA refused to assist us
in contacting former .or present CIA employees having knowledge
of the incident. At-one point we attempted to discuss a par-
ticular CIA briefing with a former Chairman of NRC who had
participated in the briefing. However, since the discussion
would have involved CIA information, the former NRC Chairman
wanted prior approval from the CIA. We attempted to obtain the
necessary approval from the CIA but were informed that this
request could not be honored due to the Diractor's decision
to work solely with Chairman Dingell's Subcommittee on this
investigation.

| 25X1, E.0.13526
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Moreover, in November 1977 the CIA refused to assist us
in contacting former or present CIA employees having knowledge
of the incident. At oneé point we attempted to discuss a par-
ticular CIA briefing with a former Chairman of NRC who had
participated in the briefing. However, since the discussion
would have involved CIA information, the former NRC Chairman
wanted prior approval from the CIA. We attempted to obtain the
necessary approval from the CIA but were informed that this
request could not be honored due to the Director's decision
to work solely with Chairman Dingell's Subcommittee on this
investigation. ’
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CHAPTER 3

WERE THE INVESTIGATIONS BY THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT

INTO THE ALLEGED INCIDENT ADEQUATE?

If a diversion or theft of nuclear material is suspected
or actually occurs in this country, the Federal Government
must be able to quickly and definitively determine how and
why it happened so that the public can be protected against
the potential hazards of such an occurrence. To do this,
agencies of the Federal Government with capabilities for in-
vestigating and responding to suspected diversion incidents
must work together. This did not happern with NUMEC. Whether

a diversion(s) ever occurred at NUMEC still remains unanswered.

What can be said, however, is that the Federal investigations
of the matter were uncoordinated, limited in scope and time-
liness, and in our opinion less than adeguate.

DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY -

We believe certain DOE actions prior to and after the
alleged NUMEC diversion(s), raise questions on the adequacy
of DOE's implementation of its regulatory responsibilities
and its investigation of NUMEC. DOE did not take corrective
action against the NUMEC facility prior to the alleged inci-
dent, even though DOE inspections revealed repeated NUMEC
material accountability and physical security deficiencies.
DOE's investigation oZ NUMEC omitted one potentially signif-
icant avenue of investigation, i.e. that the unaccounted for
material could have been erroneously shipped to-another coun-
try. Also, recognizing DOE's dual role for promotional and
regulatory responsibilities over nuclear activities, its in-
vestigation of NUMEC cannot be considered truly independent.
Prior to January 1975, DOE was responsible for regulating
nuclear materials as well as promoting the use and develop-
ment of nuclear energy in the United States. Consequently,

a discovery that a large amount of weapons-grade material
could have been diverted from a U.S. facility would have been
embarrassing to DOE and detrimental to its promotional respon-
sibilities. Condgress recognized these conflicting DOE roles
and split DOE's regulatory aspects from its promotional role
effective January 19, 1975.

From the time NUMEC was licensed in 1957 until the
missing material was identified in April 1965, every accounta-
bility inspection concducted at NUMEC by DOE found significant
weaknesses in NUMEC's accountability over nuclear material.

In view of the problems DOE was experiencing with NUMEC
and investigations which were conducted, the FBI's liaison
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of DOE's implementation of its regqulatory responsibilities
and its investigation of NUMEC. DOE did not take corrective
action against the NUMEC facility prior to the alleged inci-
dent, even though DOE inspections revealed repeated NUMEC
material accountability and physical security deficiencies.
DOE's investigation of NUMEC omitted one potentially signif-
icant avenue of investigation, i.e. that the unaccounted for
material could have been erroneously shipped to another coun-
try. Also, recognizing DOE's dual role for promotional and
regulatory responsibilities over nuclear activities, its in-
vestigation of NUMEC cannot be considered truly independent.
Prior to January 1975, DOE was responsible for regulating
nuclear materials as well as promoting the use and develop-
ment of nuclear energy in the United States. Consequently,

a discovery that a large amount of weapons-grade material
could have been diverted from a U.S. facility would have been
embarrassing to DOE and detrimental to its promotional respon-
sibilities. Congress recognized these conflicting DOE roles
and split DOE's regqulatory aspects from its promotional role
effective January 19, 1975.

From the time NUMEC was licensed in 1957 until the
missing material was identified in April 1965, every accounta-
bility inspection conducted at NUMEC by DOE found significant
weaknesses in NUMEC's accountability over nuclear material.

In view of the problems DOE was experiencing with NUMEC
and investigations which were conducted, the FBI's liaison
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with GAO and a former Executive Director of the JCAE, told us
that the FBI and the JCAE recommended to DOE that NUMEC's li-
cense be taken away and that it be prohibited from receiving
additional nuclear materials. However, they could not recall
when or how these recommendations were communicated to the
agency. (We were unable to find any record of these communi-
cations.) Further, in a letter to DOE on July 26, 1965, a
DOE official who played a key role in the investigation of
the NUMEC facility, wrote

"* ¥ * if it were within my province to do so I would,
* * * gstop all further deliveries of enriched uranium
to NUMEC until such time as they had straightened out
their procedures and had satisfactorily accounted for
all enriched uranium entrusted to them to date."

We found no indications that DOE took corrective action
against NUMEC based on these recommendations.

DOE’S reluctance to take action agalnst the facility in
light of continuing material control problems is questionable.
In some informal notes we obtained from DOE's files, a former
DOE official in charge of DOE's overall investigation of NUMEC,
admitted the agency did not know whethen the material had been
stolen or diverted. VYet the facility was not ordered to cease
operations, and it continued to obtain nuclear material con-
tracts. According to this official, who was a former DOE
Assistant General Manager, there was "no good answer" as to
why these conditions were allowed to persist over the years
of NUMEC's operation. .

DOE's handling of physical security inspection reports
on the NUMEC facility by top DOE security officials also
raises some concern. Two former DOE security inspectors
told us on March 31 and April 3, 1978, that during most of
the 1960s, including the period of the zlleged NUMEC inci=-
dent, DOE's Division of Security would rot issue an "unsat-
isfactory" security report on a nuclear facility. According
to these inspectors the security reports had to be written
in a certain manner in order to be apprcved by the top secu-
rity official at DOE, the Director of Security. For example,
one security inspection report on the NUMEC facility con-
ducted on February 10 and 11, 1966, noted two "principal®
and several "minor" security deficiencies at the facility.
The deficiencies were significant enough to prompt the Di-
rector of Security to visit the NUMEC plant to discuss the
problems with facility management. The two former security
inspectors told us, however, that the conclusion in the in-
spection report did not represent the actual findings. The
report concluded: "During the course of the inspection
several deficiencies were discovered though not sufficient
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to seriously detract from the otherwise satisfactory aspects

of the security program * * *," However, three former DOZ
security investigators, including the former Deputy and Assist-
ant Directors of Security, told us that the entire NUMEC secu-
rity program was inadeguate.

We were unable to discuss this matter with the former
Director of Security due to his current ill health.

We were told by the former DOE security inspector for the
NUMEC facility that during the February 1966 physical security
inspection at NUMEC he identified some unusual circumstances
regarding the control of nuclear material held by NUMEC. Al-
though this individual was not familiar with the material ac-
counting practices, the circumstances led him to believe that
an amount of highly enriched uranium about eqgual to the amount
unaccounted for from the NUMEC facility might have been erro-
neously shipped to France. This former inspector became so
concerned %bout the matter that he attempted to report it to
the former Director of Security upon returning from the in-
spection. However, according to this individual and his former
supervisor, the Director of Security told him to "get out of
his office" and not pursue the matter any further. According
to both these indiwviduals, the entire matter was suppressed
and was never considered by top DOE security officials. Ac-
‘cording to DOE officials, as it later developed an authorized
shipment of highly enriched uranium was sent to France and was
identified by DOE inspectors as being in that country.

Since NUMEC was both a DOE contractor and a licensee,
the facility's nuclear activities were split between DOE's
conflicting regulatory and promotional responsibilities.
These conflicting responsibilities may have affected DOE's
conclusion about the alleged diversion incident. DOE devel-
oped a "theory" about what happened to the material, even

though DOE had no conclusive
version did or did not occur
at a top level staff meeting
Assistant General Manager of
former AEC that:

information showing that a di-
at the NUMEC plant. Moreover,
on February 14, 1966, a former
AEC advised the members of the

"* % * jt would be theoretically possible to ship mate-
rial abroad in excess of the amounts indicated in the
company's records." And that "* * * the AEC material
accountability system might not reveal a deliberate
and systematic attempt to divert material * * * "

Further, 3 days after AEC was ainsed of the possibility of
a diversion, they briefed the FBI and, according to the former
agent in charge of the investigation, presented a convincing
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case that there was no diversion or theft of material from
the NUMEC facility.

FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION

. Our evaluation of the FBI's investigation of NUMEC was
blocked by the FBI's denial to provide us with supporting
documentation. However, based on our interviews with FBI and
Department of Justice officials, we believe that: (1) the
FBI's investigations of the incident were untimely; and (2)
the scope of the investigation was limited.

From August 1965 to September 1969, the FBI developed
a substantial amount of information on the actions and asso-
ciates of NUMEC's president. According to the FBI investiga-
tors, this informaticn was developed in response to requests
from DOE and the CIA. However, it was not until April of
1976 that the FBI began to investigate whether there was a
diversion of material at the NUMEC plant--about 11 years
after DOE's investigation of the incident.

On February 17, 1966, DOE staff met.with the FBI to dis-
cuss the incident and requested them to investigate the matter.
The FBI is required by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954 to inves-
tigate all alleged or suspected criminal violations of the act.
A diversion of nuclear material is a criminal violation of the
act; however, on February 25, 1966, the FBI informed DOE that
it would not undertake an investigation of the incident. The
question of diversion was not addressed by the Bureau again
until 1976. The former agent in charge of the investigation
stated that since such a long period of time had elapsed since
the alleged incident occurred it was very doubtful whether the
FBI would be able to develop any evidence that would resolve
the incident.

During our review we found that the scope of the FBI's
current investigation appeared limited since they had not in-
terviewed at least eight key officials about their knowledge
of the NUMEC incident. These included a Chairman of the for-
mer AEC during the NUMEC incident; a former Deputy Director
of the CIA responsible for gathering and analyzing data on
nuclear activities in Israel during the time of the alleged
incident; the loan officer at the Mellon Bank who approved
the loan to NUMEC; a key DOE staff member responsible for mate-
rial control inves:igations at NUMEC; and the chief DOE field
investigator for NIUMEC. These officials told us that the FBI
never interviewed them about the NUMEC incident. Two individ-
uals, the former Deputy Director of the CIA and DOE's chief
field investigator, told us that they could not understand why
the FBI had never discussed the matter with them in light of
their extensive and direct involvement.
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